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TAKING STOCK FROM THE TOP

FOREWORD BY ACTING MINISTER FOR MANPOWER

2007 was a good year for Singapore. Our real GDP grew by
7.7 per cent and a record number of 234,900 jobs were
created. Job creation continued to be healthy in the first half
of 2008, with over 140,000 jobs created.
Moving ahead, we are entering a new phase in the global
economy which is facing more uncertainties. We must keep
our eyes on the future to stay on the path for long-term
growth by ensuring a flexible and responsive labour market.
Over the next few years, while the rate of job creation may
be slower than in the last two years, Singapore will continue
to provide good employment opportunities for our people.
Within the next two years, we will see the opening of the
two integrated resorts, the Orchard Ion, the staging of the
Youth Olympics, as well as major investments in the clean
energy sector and the biologics and pharmaceutical industries.
These investments will create more jobs but they will be
looking for workers with relevant skill sets. We must therefore
help Singaporeans acquire the right skills so that they can
secure good jobs.

Together, the Government, employers, unions and community
partners can reach out, encourage and empower workers
to constantly acquire new skills to advance in their careers
and improve their lives. As articulated in WDA’s new vision
statement, this will further enhance Singapore’s economic
future by building ‘A competitive workforce, with workers
Learning for Life, and Advancing with Skills’.

GAN KIM YONG
ACTING MINISTER FOR MANPOWER

Furthermore, our population is ageing, and so is our workforce.
Rising life expectancy means that workers must be prepared
to work longer and save more to ensure that they have
adequate financial security for the future. To prepare older
workers to face these challenges and seize opportunities
available, we will need to ensure that such workers continue
to receive relevant training and upgrading.
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To address these challenges, the Government launched the
Continuing Education and Training (CET) Masterplan in 2008
to build a first-class CET system. This will be a key strategy
to enhance Singapore’s competitiveness and provide the
best support for our workers by helping them stay employable.
The Masterplan will strengthen the resilience of our workforce,
facilitate workers’ entry into new growth sectors, and ensure
that they continue to possess relevant skills valued by
companies. This year, the Government invested an additional
$800 million into the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund
(LLEF), bringing the total fund size to $3 billion. Eventually,
the LLEF will be topped up to $5 billion.
The Singapore Workforce Development Agency (WDA) has
built a strong foundation for a robust national CET system.
Over the next few years, WDA will step up the implementation
of the CET Masterplan. However, it cannot do so effectively
without the support of our tripartite and community partners.
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REVIEW BY CHAIRMAN

Over the past few years, the Singapore Workforce
Development Agency (WDA) has laid a strong foundation
for a national Continuing Education and Training (CET)
system. This is a new national capability that we are
building, one that will enable workers to learn throughout
their lifetime to upgrade their skills and keep up with
changes in the economy, and facilitate companies in
developing their workforce to compete effectively in the
marketplace.
WDA has achieved this by focusing on building the four
pillars of the CET system. First, the Employability Skills
System (ESS), which equips workers, especially those
who missed out on formal schooling, with the foundational
skills required to participate in the workforce. This includes
workplace literacy and numeracy skills, which have been
widely recognised as an alternate yardstick to GCE ‘O’
and ‘N’ levels for entry into jobs and training programmes.
Second, the Workforce Skills Qualifications (WSQ) system
provides a skills and competency-based certification
framework that is authoritative, relevant to industries and
offers workers a pathway to advance in their careers.
Third, good CET Centres that deliver ESS and WSQ
programmes which workers can enrol directly into, benefit
from Government funding, and acquire skills to further
their careers.
Fourth, a network of career centres, operated by the
Community Development Councils (CDCs) and the
Employment and Employability Institute of the National
Trades Union Congress (NTUC), which interface with
workers and job seekers, providing them advice on the
skills they need to advance in their careers, and complete
the last mile of our service by helping them find jobs.
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With these efforts, WDA has developed a complete CET
system that is industry centric in design, and worker
centric in delivery. It has carved out a unique role for
itself, because WDA focuses on CET that is skills-based,
delivered in bite sizes, and prepares workers to do the
job, different from traditional CET that is primarily about
gaining more knowledge and acquiring higher academic
qualifications in adulthood.
WDA also reaches out to a wide spectrum of workers
covering all ages of workers, all major industries, and
ranging from the unemployed to rank and file workers,
Professionals, Managers, Executives and Technicians.

Recognising the progress that it has achieved so far, the
Government has recently announced the CET Masterplan,
and committed more resources to CET, to add a further
impetus to WDA’s work.
While the CET system works and is serving many workers,
for it to thrive, it needs a mindset change amongst
companies and workers. Companies must come forth
to recognise the WSQ system, in the same way as they
recognise academic qualifications. Ultimately, it is
industries’ recognition and adoption that will drive demand
for and quality of skills-based CET.
Workers too, must adopt the mindset of lifelong learning,
and understand the premium of skills. It is immensely
important for workers to acquire formal educational
qualifications such as polytechnic diplomas or degrees.
However, with a rising education profile, skills will help
differentiate workers because ultimately, employers are
looking for workers who possess the competencies to
perform on the job. The modern worker is one who is agile
and able to switch professions through skills re-training
several times during his career lifetime, because this is the
pace of restructuring of the modern economy too.
WDA could not have achieved so much over the past
few years without the support and commitment of our
employers, unions and training partners. I take this
opportunity to thank our many partners for their strong
support, especially the NTUC, CDCs, industry leaders
represented on the various Industry Skills and Training
Councils, and Board members who have been generous
with their advice, insights and decisiveness. I would also
like to recognise the energy and passion of WDA staff,
who have made a real difference to our workforce. With
such a supporting team and partners, I believe WDA will
achieve even more in the year ahead.

TAN PHENG HOCK
CHAIRMAN
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REVIEW BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE

2007 marks another year of good progress.
We achieved greater clarity in our mission and vision,
by focusing on building up a skills-based Continuing
Education and Training (CET) infrastructure, and offering
accessible programmes which are relevant to industries
that serve broad segments of the workforce.
We further strengthened the national CET infrastructure,
by working closely with industries to complete another
10 Workforce Skills Qualifications (WSQ) sectoral
frameworks, bringing the total number of frameworks to
19. WSQ now covers major sectors such as aerospace,
community and social services, floristry, generic
manufacturing, healthcare support, infocomms
technology, security, marine workplace safety & health,
process manufacturing, and workplace safety & health.
Within each framework, we chart out the key occupations
in each sector, the career advancement pathways, and
the WSQ programmes that will prepare workers for each
of these jobs.
In certain areas, WSQ has helped transformed the sectors.
Security officers today are professional, well-respected
and possess the relevant skills to perform their job better.
This was to a large extent made possible through the
development and implementation of the WSQ sectoral
framework for security.
We established a total of 19 CET Centres. Collectively,
they represent a training capacity of 60,000 measured
by Statements of Attainment (SOAs) or 20,000 measured
by training headcounts. These CET Centres are industrybased institutions, offering open enrolment courses which
all workers and all companies can tap on.
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By the end of FY2007, we accredited 285 training
organisations to deliver WSQ training. Many of these are
industry players, offering in-house WSQ training to their
employees, and using WSQ framework for staff
recruitment, appraisal and development. Collectively, we
estimated that they deliver a total of 161,045 training
places measured by SOAs.
Even for companies which are not accredited as WSQ
training organisations, many are recognising WSQ or
Employability Skills System (ESS) certifications, in the
same way as they recognise academic qualifications. As

at end 2007, we estimated that 5,500 companies
are adopting either WSQ or ESS as a yardstick to recruit
or develop staff.
With a strong CET infrastructure and greater industry
recognition of WSQ and ESS, we can help more workers
and deliver better results. In FY2007, WDA helped 74,199
workers upgrade and certify their skills. Amongst them,
8,900 went through skills conversions, whereby they
retrained and moved into new and growing industries,
such as tourism, retail, security, digital animation, finance
and aerospace.
On the employment assistance front, in partnership with
the National Trades Union Congress (NTUC) and the
Community Development Councils (CDCs), we
successfully placed 16,000 job seekers in positions in
various industries, including retail, tourism, transport and
manufacturing. We are making an extra effort to equip
job seekers with skills, so that they too can move into
growth areas, instead of taking the easier route by simply
placing them in jobs with low barriers to entry. Because
of our efforts, in 2007, 11,200 job seekers received
training to enhance their skills and employability, prior to
job placements.
Together with our close partner, NTUC, we made further
progress under the Job Re-creation Programme (JRP).
In FY2007, JRP helped a total of 15,000 workers. The
workers benefited in a variety of ways, including being
placed in better jobs, re-deployed to other jobs to
pre-empt retrenchment, or re-employed when they are
near or reaching 62 years old. For economically inactive
workers, many found part time jobs because JRP
promoted flexible working arrangements to companies.
Others benefited from better working conditions and
higher productivity because of company initiatives
supported under JRP.
We continue to make progress in building up our
organisation. WDA has obtained the ISO9001 certification
for its accreditation and Continuous Improvement Review
process. This gives training providers and employers
added confidence in our quality assurance system. In
December 2007, we obtained the People Developer
status. We conducted a comprehensive salary review
exercise to ensure that we remunerate our people

competitively and fairly. We strengthened our talent
management system, introduced cross divisional project
teams and developed programmes to better nurture
our staff.
We continue to emphasise people engagement,
encouraging ground-up ideas to improve processes and
drive for higher efficiency and effectiveness, and our
people have responded enthusiastically with innovative
projects throughout the year. We continue to help our
people strike a good balance between work and life,
through many social programmes organised by the Staff
Welfare Action Team.
WDA has its work cut out for the next few years with the
implementation of the CET Masterplan and more
resources committed by the Government to CET. Our
plan is to quadruple the CET capacity, so that we can
help even more workers upgrade their skills. We are
working with industry partners, including NTUC, CDCs,
the Institute of Technical Education (ITE), the Polytechnics
and the Universities, other Government agencies, industry
associations and major employers. Most importantly we
are working with every worker, because what we are
building is an empowering system, so that the help and
the system are available for every worker to tap on, to
take charge of their own careers and advance in their
careers and lives.

ONG YE KUNG
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
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Chief Executive
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the Employability
Skills System (ESS)

2006

• Five WSQ sectoral frameworks
developed:
• Food & Beverage
• Landscape
• Precision Engineering
• Service Excellence
• Tourism
• Set up of the first CET Centre
– the Singapore Institute of
Retail Studies (SIRS)
• Set up of the Centre for Urban
Greenery and Ecology (CUGE)
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WDA’S
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• 10 WSQ sectoral
frameworks developed:
• Aerospace
• Community & Social Services
• Floristry
• Generic Manufacturing
• Healthcare Support
• Infocomm Technology
• Marine Workplace Safety
& Health
• Process Manufacturing
• Security
• Workplace Safety & Health
• Civil Service recognises ESS
certification as part of its
recruitment criteria
• 17 CET Centres established

CHARTING
OUR PROGRESS

2008

• Prime Minister announces the
CET Masterplan
• Launch of the Workplace
Safety and Health
Professionals WSQ
• 16,000 job seekers successfully
placed in a wide variety of
sectors, including retail, security,
tourism, logistics, transport
and manufacturing
• The ADVANTAGE! scheme
helped 379 companies
implement re-employment
policy for workers aged 62
and above
• 74,199 workers trained
and upgraded through
WSQ with the following
penetration rates:
• Aerospace
0.4%
• Community &
Social Services
3%
• Finance
0.17%
• Food & Beverage 13%
• Generic
Manufacturing
0.1%
• Infocomm
Technology
0.08%
• Landscape
8%
• Precision
Engineering
1%
• Retail
13%
• Security
100%
• Service Excellence 1%
• Tourism
16%
• Training
9%
• WSH Professional
0%
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Skills are and will continue to be important
for our workers to stay employable, and to
enhance their career prospects. WDA’s
efforts in strengthening our national
framework and infrastructure for lifelong
lear ning have made a big impact on
enhancing the employability of our workers
Mr Lim Swee Say
Secretary General and the competitiveness of our workforce.
National Trades Union Congress The Labour Movement appreciates WDA’s
(NTUC)
tremendous support and we are glad to
have a committed partner in WDA. Together,
we can help our workers cope with the
challenges and capture new and growing
job opportunities brought about by
globalisation and the fast pace of change.

SIRS is a joint collaborative project between
Nanyang Polytechnic and WDA. SIRS is
one of the first CET Centres to be created
by WDA. We in SIRS are proud of our ability
to contribute to the national CET Masterplan
and we recognise the responsibilities we
have undertaken to serve as the lead training
Mr Henry Heng
provider for all levels of the retail industry
Deputy Principal (Academic)
Nanyang Polytechnic workforce deploying the WSQ system. We
Singapore Institute of Retail Studies in SIRS are indeed proud to say that we
(SIRS)
have come a long way since our inception
in January 2006. To date, SIRS has helped
about 12,000 participants mainly from the
retail workforce to attain near 22,000
Statements of Attainment/qualifications.
SIRS has also assisted 55 per cent of those
participants who came from non retail sector
and 386 WSQ public course participants
to be placed in the retail sector.

Everyone in our workforce is valuable
in labour-tight Singapore. SNEF is glad
that WDA recognises the need to support
employers in finding workers with the right
skills for the jobs available. The various
schemes developed, whether it’s training,
re-training, skills upgrading, or funding
Mr Stephen Lee
support, have a positive impact on industries.
President
Singapore National Within a short span of three years, WDA
Employers Federation has rolled out 19 sectoral skills framework
(SNEF)
under the WSQ system, providing a
structured human resource pathway from
recruitment to training, development and
deployment. Such practical application of a
skills framework reinforces the importance
of skilled workers in enhancing the
competitiveness of industries.

The value of adult education has never been
much recognised till now where industries
need workers who are skilled beyond what
a sound education system can provide. The
Creative Industries are one such example.
Students get a basic grounding in areas like
multimedia and design but when they come
Mdm Chua Foo Yong
Chairman out to work, employers are looking for skills
Media & Communications MSTC immediately applicable at the workplace.
Executive Advisor Creative Industries WSQ has opened up
MediaCorp
career opportunities in digital media and
Managing Director
Singapore Media Academy (SMA) skilled up workers in niche areas like script
writing, storyboarding, high definition
production and creative services.

FORGING
SUCCESS
THROUGH
PARTNERSHIPS
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BRINGING CET TO THE WORKFORCE

The Singapore economy grew by 7.7 per cent in 2007,
creating 234,900 jobs out of which 90,400 went to the local
workers. Out of the jobs created for locals, 85 per cent
came from the services sector, followed by 8.1 per cent
from manufacturing and 4.8 per cent from construction.
With such strong job creation, there are more job vacancies
available across a wide range of occupations and spanning
the entire skills spectrum. The shortage of skilled professionals
is particularly acute in the managerial, engineering, accounting,
financial, information technology and nursing fields.
Beyond quantitative shortage, qualitative requirements for manpower are also changing. With
a better educated workforce, employers are looking beyond good academic qualifications, to
skills, which include attitude, mindset and expertise that are needed at the job. Coupled with
rapid technological advancement and a changing competitive landscape, these skills requirements
are constantly evolving and changing. What this means is that academic qualifications attained
through pre-employment education alone are no longer enough to see a worker through his
career life. He needs to continue to acquire new skills and upgrade existing skills.
Lifelong learning is therefore a fundamental mindset for a worker to stay employable and relevant
to the economy. Keeping the objective of enhancing employability in mind, learning should
ideally be focused on skills that are needed by industries, so that with the newly-acquired skills,
a worker could advance in his career and life.
To reflect this new focus, WDA has revised its Vision Statement to ‘A competitive workforce,
with workers Learning for Life, and Advancing with Skills’. Our strategy in achieving this is to
build a first class CET system that is skills-based, accessible to workers, relevant to industries,
and able to reach out to broad segments of the workforce – young and old, and from rankand-file workers to professionals, managers and executives.
In FY2007, WDA made further progress in developing the CET system, delivering results and
changing lives.

ACHIEVEMENTS FOR THE YEAR:

BRINGING
CET TO THE
WORKFORCE
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Building the Continuing Education & Training (CET) System

CET Providers

The CET system comprises the Employability Skills System, the Workforce Skills Qualifications
system and the CET providers. In FY2007, WDA spent a total of $26.5 million in developing
the CET system.

As of end FY2007, WDA has established 19 CET Centres across the island at different locations,
providing workers with direct access to skills upgrading opportunities. Some examples include
Air Transport Training College (ATTC), Singapore Institute of Retail Studies (SIRS), NTUC Learning
Hub, Security Industry Institute (SII) and Tourism Management Institute of Singapore (TMIS).
In FY2007, WDA invested a total of $19.1 million in building and supporting these CET Centres.

Employability Skills System (ESS)
ESS comprises a set of 10 foundational skills aimed at enhancing a worker’s employability.
These skills include workplace literacy, numeracy, infocomm technology, communication and
relationship management, team work and problem solving. ESS is portable across industries
and especially relevant to low-skilled workers.
In FY2007, WDA enhanced ESS by introducing the Business Chinese Test and Chinese
Numeracy Test where workers can obtain formal recognition of their Chinese language proficiency.
This is particularly useful for workers who need to work in a Mandarin speaking environment,
or have to process documents written in Chinese.
This is the first time the Government has implemented a nationally-recognised assessment test
in speaking, listening, reading and writing skills for Business Chinese. In 2007, 1,569 participants
took the Business Chinese Test and Chinese Numeracy Test. WDA also upgraded the test
administration system from a paper-based assessment to a computer-based one.
In FY2007, a total of $3.7 million was disbursed in support of ESS development and assessment
activities. More than 164,341 Statements of Attainment (SOAs) were issued to workers who
were successfully trained and assessed under the ESS system. Today, almost 70,000 workers
are certified under ESS, a one and a half fold increase over the previous year. About 51 per
cent of the workers upgraded were aged 40 years and above, while 62 per cent had education
qualifications of GCE ‘O’ levels and below.

These centres are part of the Government’s commitment to empower workers to take charge
of their career development and employability, by providing them with direct access to training
programmes that are subsidised by the Government. Besides offering training programmes
that lead to WSQ certification, these centres also reach out to industries and the workforce to
promote the importance of skills upgrading and provide career services such as helping trainees
find jobs in industries which they were trained for. This approach complements the employersponsored training that is subsidised under the Skills Development Fund (SDF) system.
Today, the CET Centres have the capacity to train 20,000 workers annually, which is equivalent
to providing about 60,000 SOAs. Complementing the CET Centres are numerous in-house and
smaller training providers that are accredited to provide WSQ training for their own employees
or specific customer bases.
As of end FY2007, 285 training organisations were accredited as Approved Training Organisations
to deliver WSQ training. They include many major in-house training providers. Accredited training
providers in the service industries include McDonalds, Shangri-La, Pan Pacific, OSIM, Courts,
Metro, Aetos, Certis and CISCO; accredited training providers in the manufacturing industries
include Keppel Offshore & Marine, Makino Asia, Hamilton Sundstrand Pacific Aerospace, VDL
Enabling Technologies Group, DMG Asia Pacific. Since the inception of WSQ, the number of
Approved Training Organisations has been rising steadily. See Charts 1, 2 and 3:

Workforce Skills Qualifications (WSQ) System

We have completed and implemented 10 new WSQ frameworks during the year, in addition
to the existing nine. The new frameworks are Aerospace, Community and Social Services,
Floristry, Generic Manufacturing Skills, Healthcare Support, Infocomm Technology, Security,
Marine Workplace Safety & Health, Process Manufacturing and Workplace Safety & Health.
We now have a total of 19 WSQ frameworks since the system was launched in October 2005.
These frameworks chart clearly the career paths of various occupations through skills acquisition,
and instill a stronger sense of professionalism in each industry.

Chart 1: Number of Approved Training Organisations
160
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In FY2007, WDA invested $3.8 million in the development of the WSQ frameworks and
competency standards.
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Chart 2: Number of Approved Training Organisations Breakdown by Industry

Outreach to Workers and Recognition by Industries
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The CET system, anchored on WSQ, has reached out to many workers. Over the last three
years, a total of 179,478 local workers obtained 288,276 WSQ SOAs. This is almost 10 per
cent of the local workforce.
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In FY2007 alone, 74,199 workers have benefited from the WSQ System and obtained new
skills and qualifications. 2,004 have obtained full WSQ qualifications. See Chart 4.
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The success and the demand for CET depend on the extent to which industries value the
training under CET and recognise its certifications.
In this respect, employers are increasingly responding to our manpower development efforts
by recognising ESS and WSQ credentials. WDA estimates that in FY2007, 5,500 companies
have started adopting either WSQ or ESS or both in their manpower and recruitment
strategies. Some key adopters include:
• The public sector using ESS qualifications in its recruitment for Division 3 positions and
as a promotion criterion for Division 4 officers;
• Numerous private sector companies, such as Home-Fix DIY Pte Ltd, BHG (Singapore)
Pte Ltd, Esprit Retail Pte Ltd, Parkway Health Group, Singapore Cruise Centre Pte Ltd
and Apex Pal International Ltd, have adopted ESS as an entry criteria during recruitment;
• The Ministry of Home Affairs requiring all private security guards to be certified competent
under the Security WSQ Framework;
• The Singapore Tourism Board requiring all tourist guide applicants to obtain three
Statements of Attainment from the Tourism WSQ Framework, before they are qualified
to sit for the Tourist Guide Examination; and
• Institute of Technical Education (ITE), in addition to their earlier adoption of ESS as entry
criteria to its National Institute of Technical Education Certificate (NITEC) programmes,
accepting applicants without GCE ‘N’ or ‘O’ levels for its Enrolled Nurses course,
provided they have WSQ in Healthcare Support qualifications.

Producing Workforce Development Outcomes
WDA’s efforts in championing adult learning and skills upgrading have achieved significant
outcomes in the past year. In FY2007, we disbursed $75.7 million to fund these outcomebased CET programmes.

New Skills for New Jobs
Open access to WSQ programmes enables workers to obtain new skills and gain entry to
new growth industries without prior qualifications or experience in the sector. These CET
pathways offer alternate routes to new careers in growth sectors, and are practical and
efficient avenues for workers to acquire the necessary skills and credentials required by the
industry. In addition to facilitating the movement of workers across industries, CET pathways
also enable workers within the same sector to upgrade to better and bigger jobs. This
enhances the flexibility and resilience of the workforce in adapting to a fast changing economic
environment and more intense competition.
In 2007, WDA leveraged on our CET Centres to help 8,900 workers re-skill and enter new
industries. Examples of these CET programmes include:
Aerospace WSQ Higher Certificate Course
The four to 12 months training course equips participants with the relevant skills to become
non-certifying technicians in the aerospace industry. This framework has been developed for
new entrants who aspire to work in the industry, existing workers to be upgraded and
re-deployed to another work area, or experienced and competent workers to be formally
credentialed. Upon completion of the Aerospace WSQ Higher Certificate in Aerospace
Maintenance, there is an articulation pathway for them to become a Certifying Technician by
passing the Civil Aviation Authority of Singapore’s (CAAS) prescribed examination and fulfilling
two years of work experience. From its implementation in September 2007 to March 2008,
69 trainees have graduated via the Assessment-Only-Pathway and Training and Assessment
pathway for various Aerospace WSQ modules. WDA projects a further 150 trainees to be
upgraded via Aerospace WSQ by the end of 2008.
Precision Engineering WSQ Programme
The precision engineering industry is moving towards higher value added activities, for example,
production of cutting-edge medical devices and aerospace components. The precision
engineering WSQ programmes enable workers who are already in the industry to upgrade
their skills to support the changes in the industry landscape. In addition, jobseekers and
retrenched workers are also welcomed to join and pick up relevant technical skills to transit
to the precision engineering sector as technicians or machinists. In FY2007, 321 trainees
completed the Precision Engineering WSQ Certificate and Higher Certificate courses and
were certified competent.
Instrumentation & Control Conversion Course
As our process and automation industries evolve and create more high value added jobs, we
need to build up our pool of skilled engineers. This is the objective of the Instrumentation &
Control Conversion Course. Since its launch in September 2007, the programme has placed
46 new entrants in such jobs.
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WSQ Certificate in Generic Manufacturing Skills

CRAFT for Chefs (CReating opportunities through Apprenticeship and Fulltime Training)

Manufacturing continues to account for a quarter of Singapore’s GDP and is a major engine
of our economic growth. It is also one of the most globalised and fast changing sectors. To
help manufacturing workers stay within the industries, WDA launched the WSQ Certificate
in Generic Manufacturing Skills programme in December 2007. The programme certifies the
skills of existing manufacturing workers and helps displaced manufacturing workers stay
within the sector. Through the programme, WDA was able to transit workers from one subsector to another, such as from electronics to pharmaceuticals.

WDA has appointed At-sunrice and SHATEC as CET Centres for food and beverage (F&B)
production. This has enabled many workers who are passionate about food and culinary art
to enter the F&B sector. In FY2007, At-sunrice enrolled 65 students, out of which 35 have
graduated and found jobs in companies such as the Ritz-Carlton Millenia Singapore, Four
Seasons Hotel, Saint Pierre, SATS Catering and Tung Lok Restaurant. In FY2007, SHATEC
enrolled 188 students for the two-year WSQ programme, and these students will be graduating
in 2009.

ASMI Super V Programme

WSQ Diploma in Tourism - Meetings, Incentives, Conventions and Exhibitions (MICE)
and Events

The programme targets local workers with secondary education and grooms them to take
up supervisory positions in the booming marine industry. Successful trainees will attain NITEC
certification and see their pay rise from $1,000 to $1,350. So far, over 300 workers have
been trained and upgraded to supervisory positions under the programme.
Enhanced Property Officer Re-skilling Programme
Professionals, managers and executives are trained to become property officers in the real
estate management and maintenance industry. In FY2007, 48 participants, mostly structurally
unemployed diploma holders, were successfully channelled into the industry.
National Retail Scholarships
WDA, together with the Singapore Retailers’ Association and SPRING Singapore, introduced
this inaugural scholarship programme to groom the next generation of leaders in the retail
sector. The scholarships cater for specialised retail programmes at the Diploma, Bachelor
and Masters levels. 18 scholars, including undergraduates and retail professionals, benefited
from the programme in FY2007.
WSQ Certificate in Landscape Operations
Singapore is embarking on an exciting journey to become a City in a Garden. This has driven
the growth and development of the landscape industry. The Centre for Urban Greenery and
Ecology (CUGE), a joint project between WDA and the National Parks Board, offers a range
of WSQ training and professional development to develop skilled workers and professionals
in the landscape sector. In FY2007, CUGE successfully turned 280 new entrants and existing
workers into qualified landscape technicians.
WSQ Higher Certificate in Community Social Services (Senior Services)
As our population grows older, there is a rising need for professional senior services workers.
Beyond basic healthcare and nursing skills, they also need to know how to relate to the
elderly and cater to their specific needs. The programme has helped 17 trainees, mostly
unemployed, to find jobs as healthcare assistants in nursing homes and community hospitals.

In addition to its undergraduate and Executive Masters programme, the University of Nevada
Las Vegas also delivers the WSQ Diploma in Tourism, specialising in MICE and Events. With
the advent of the Integrated Resorts, the programme has attracted many professionals and
executives seeking opportunities in a new and exciting area. In FY2007, 24 trainees graduated
from the programme and found jobs in companies such as Spinergy Destination Management,
Pico Art International Pte Ltd and Hydl Inc Pte Ltd.
Tourism WSQ Programmes
The Tourism Management Institute of Singapore (TMIS) has a long history of serving the
training needs of the tourism industry. WDA has been working closely with TMIS to certify its
programmes under WSQ, adopt the CET principles of open accessibility and flexibility, formalise
its role as a CET Centre, and expand its operations so that its training programmes can benefit
more workers. Today, TMIS delivers a range of tourism programmes, such as WSQ Medical
Tourism, WSQ Tourist Guide, WSQ Certificate in Tour and Travel Services, WSQ Certificate
in Attractions, WSQ Dual Certificate in Tour and Travel Services and Attractions, WSQ Advanced
Certificate in Tour and Travel Services, and WSQ Advanced Certificate in Attractions. In
FY2007, a total of 551 trainees from TMIS were trained and certified under the Tourism WSQ.
TMIS has also helped companies such as Singapore Flyer and Singapore Discovery Centre
to recruit and train their staff.
The Tourism Academy of Singapore under Temasek Polytechnic and the University of Hawaii
partnered to launch a WSQ Diploma in Tourism in 2007. The enrolment of 25 students
comprised a good mix of both new entrants interested to join the industry as well as existing
practitioners seeking to upgrade their skills. The partnership also includes the offering of shortterm Professional Development Programmes for senior executives. With an enrolment of 36
trainees thus far, the programme has been well received by the industry.

Digital Media Traineeship Programme
Conducted by CG Protégé, this programme enables workers to learn the basic skills of digital
animation and visual effects, build up their portfolios and show reels, which will help them
enter the digital animation sector. In FY2007, 66 trainees graduated from the WSQ Advanced
Certificate in Animation and Visual Effects programme, joining prestigious production firms
such as LucasFilm and Double Negative based in the United Kingdom.

22

SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY ANNUAL REPORT 2007/2008 | 23

BRINGING CET TO THE WORKFORCE

BRINGING CET TO THE WORKFORCE

WSQ Certificate in Generic Manufacturing Skills

CRAFT for Chefs (CReating opportunities through Apprenticeship and Fulltime Training)

Manufacturing continues to account for a quarter of Singapore’s GDP and is a major engine
of our economic growth. It is also one of the most globalised and fast changing sectors. To
help manufacturing workers stay within the industries, WDA launched the WSQ Certificate
in Generic Manufacturing Skills programme in December 2007. The programme certifies the
skills of existing manufacturing workers and helps displaced manufacturing workers stay
within the sector. Through the programme, WDA was able to transit workers from one subsector to another, such as from electronics to pharmaceuticals.

WDA has appointed At-sunrice and SHATEC as CET Centres for food and beverage (F&B)
production. This has enabled many workers who are passionate about food and culinary art
to enter the F&B sector. In FY2007, At-sunrice enrolled 65 students, out of which 35 have
graduated and found jobs in companies such as the Ritz-Carlton Millenia Singapore, Four
Seasons Hotel, Saint Pierre, SATS Catering and Tung Lok Restaurant. In FY2007, SHATEC
enrolled 188 students for the two-year WSQ programme, and these students will be graduating
in 2009.

ASMI Super V Programme

WSQ Diploma in Tourism - Meetings, Incentives, Conventions and Exhibitions (MICE)
and Events

The programme targets local workers with secondary education and grooms them to take
up supervisory positions in the booming marine industry. Successful trainees will attain NITEC
certification and see their pay rise from $1,000 to $1,350. So far, over 300 workers have
been trained and upgraded to supervisory positions under the programme.
Enhanced Property Officer Re-skilling Programme
Professionals, managers and executives are trained to become property officers in the real
estate management and maintenance industry. In FY2007, 48 participants, mostly structurally
unemployed diploma holders, were successfully channelled into the industry.
National Retail Scholarships
WDA, together with the Singapore Retailers’ Association and SPRING Singapore, introduced
this inaugural scholarship programme to groom the next generation of leaders in the retail
sector. The scholarships cater for specialised retail programmes at the Diploma, Bachelor
and Masters levels. 18 scholars, including undergraduates and retail professionals, benefited
from the programme in FY2007.
WSQ Certificate in Landscape Operations
Singapore is embarking on an exciting journey to become a City in a Garden. This has driven
the growth and development of the landscape industry. The Centre for Urban Greenery and
Ecology (CUGE), a joint project between WDA and the National Parks Board, offers a range
of WSQ training and professional development to develop skilled workers and professionals
in the landscape sector. In FY2007, CUGE successfully turned 280 new entrants and existing
workers into qualified landscape technicians.
WSQ Higher Certificate in Community Social Services (Senior Services)
As our population grows older, there is a rising need for professional senior services workers.
Beyond basic healthcare and nursing skills, they also need to know how to relate to the
elderly and cater to their specific needs. The programme has helped 17 trainees, mostly
unemployed, to find jobs as healthcare assistants in nursing homes and community hospitals.

In addition to its undergraduate and Executive Masters programme, the University of Nevada
Las Vegas also delivers the WSQ Diploma in Tourism, specialising in MICE and Events. With
the advent of the Integrated Resorts, the programme has attracted many professionals and
executives seeking opportunities in a new and exciting area. In FY2007, 24 trainees graduated
from the programme and found jobs in companies such as Spinergy Destination Management,
Pico Art International Pte Ltd and Hydl Inc Pte Ltd.
Tourism WSQ Programmes
The Tourism Management Institute of Singapore (TMIS) has a long history of serving the
training needs of the tourism industry. WDA has been working closely with TMIS to certify its
programmes under WSQ, adopt the CET principles of open accessibility and flexibility, formalise
its role as a CET Centre, and expand its operations so that its training programmes can benefit
more workers. Today, TMIS delivers a range of tourism programmes, such as WSQ Medical
Tourism, WSQ Tourist Guide, WSQ Certificate in Tour and Travel Services, WSQ Certificate
in Attractions, WSQ Dual Certificate in Tour and Travel Services and Attractions, WSQ Advanced
Certificate in Tour and Travel Services, and WSQ Advanced Certificate in Attractions. In
FY2007, a total of 551 trainees from TMIS were trained and certified under the Tourism WSQ.
TMIS has also helped companies such as Singapore Flyer and Singapore Discovery Centre
to recruit and train their staff.
The Tourism Academy of Singapore under Temasek Polytechnic and the University of Hawaii
partnered to launch a WSQ Diploma in Tourism in 2007. The enrolment of 25 students
comprised a good mix of both new entrants interested to join the industry as well as existing
practitioners seeking to upgrade their skills. The partnership also includes the offering of shortterm Professional Development Programmes for senior executives. With an enrolment of 36
trainees thus far, the programme has been well received by the industry.

Digital Media Traineeship Programme
Conducted by CG Protégé, this programme enables workers to learn the basic skills of digital
animation and visual effects, build up their portfolios and show reels, which will help them
enter the digital animation sector. In FY2007, 66 trainees graduated from the WSQ Advanced
Certificate in Animation and Visual Effects programme, joining prestigious production firms
such as LucasFilm and Double Negative based in the United Kingdom.

22

SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY ANNUAL REPORT 2007/2008 | 23

BRINGING CET TO THE WORKFORCE

BRINGING CET TO THE WORKFORCE

Better Skills for Bigger Jobs

Job Re-creation Programme (JRP)

As our workers improve and acquire better skills through CET programmes, they will be
presented with opportunities to take on better jobs and bigger roles in their careers. Employers
stand to gain too, as training and development motivate their workers, instil professional
pride, help them take on bigger roles and raise productivity. Examples of how CET programmes
help workers upgrade to bigger and better jobs are:

JRP is a major collaboration between the National Trades Union Congress (NTUC) and WDA.
Through the Programme, WDA initiates industry and company efforts to improve working
environments, promote use of machinery and equipment, redesign job, and therefore raise
productivity. Under JRP, NTUC and WDA also implement many skills upgrading programmes
to help the unemployed find jobs and help existing workers upgrade their skills for better
jobs.

Retail
Challenger and Esprit identified high potential rank-and-file employees and sponsored them
for the WSQ Diploma in Retail Management course at the Singapore Institute of Retail Studies
(SIRS), preparing them for supervisory roles. In FY2007, 266 trainees went through the
programmes. Many proceeded to become supervisors or took on bigger roles.
Healthcare
In FY2007, the Clinical Instructor Upgrading Course trained 40 existing Registered Nurses
to become clinical instructors. As clinical instructors, nurses can now supervise, train and
mentor trainee nurses, which will help raise the quality of nursing care.

Chart 5: Number of Workers Benefited from JRP
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16,000

Offered at the Logistics Institute-Asia Pacific which was set up by the National University of
Singapore and the Georgia Institute of Technology, the Executive Certificate in Supply Chain
Management Course was obtained by 62 supervisors and managers without formal educational
qualifications in FY2007. Their new industry qualifications have enabled them to take on
bigger roles in their companies.

14,000

Landscape
CUGE is strengthening the core group of landscape professionals in Singapore through
various professional development initiatives. One such initiative is the Certified Arborists
programme which has been recognised by the International Society of Arborists. In FY2007,
the programme upgraded the skills of 34 landscape professionals.
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In FY2007, through NTUC, WDA spent $12 million in the JRP initiatives, benefiting more than
15,000 workers. See Chart 5.

12,000
10,000
8,000
6,000
4,000
2,000
0

07 Achieved

08 Targets

Unemployed placed

Mature PMETs

Upgraders with higher pay

Customer Centric Initiative

Re-skilling of Low Wage Workers

Re-deployment

Re-employment of older workers

Back to Work Women

SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY ANNUAL REPORT 2007/2008 | 25

BRINGING CET TO THE WORKFORCE

BRINGING CET TO THE WORKFORCE

Better Skills for Bigger Jobs

Job Re-creation Programme (JRP)

As our workers improve and acquire better skills through CET programmes, they will be
presented with opportunities to take on better jobs and bigger roles in their careers. Employers
stand to gain too, as training and development motivate their workers, instil professional
pride, help them take on bigger roles and raise productivity. Examples of how CET programmes
help workers upgrade to bigger and better jobs are:

JRP is a major collaboration between the National Trades Union Congress (NTUC) and WDA.
Through the Programme, WDA initiates industry and company efforts to improve working
environments, promote use of machinery and equipment, redesign job, and therefore raise
productivity. Under JRP, NTUC and WDA also implement many skills upgrading programmes
to help the unemployed find jobs and help existing workers upgrade their skills for better
jobs.

Retail
Challenger and Esprit identified high potential rank-and-file employees and sponsored them
for the WSQ Diploma in Retail Management course at the Singapore Institute of Retail Studies
(SIRS), preparing them for supervisory roles. In FY2007, 266 trainees went through the
programmes. Many proceeded to become supervisors or took on bigger roles.
Healthcare
In FY2007, the Clinical Instructor Upgrading Course trained 40 existing Registered Nurses
to become clinical instructors. As clinical instructors, nurses can now supervise, train and
mentor trainee nurses, which will help raise the quality of nursing care.

Chart 5: Number of Workers Benefited from JRP
20,000
18,000

Logistics

16,000

Offered at the Logistics Institute-Asia Pacific which was set up by the National University of
Singapore and the Georgia Institute of Technology, the Executive Certificate in Supply Chain
Management Course was obtained by 62 supervisors and managers without formal educational
qualifications in FY2007. Their new industry qualifications have enabled them to take on
bigger roles in their companies.

14,000

Landscape
CUGE is strengthening the core group of landscape professionals in Singapore through
various professional development initiatives. One such initiative is the Certified Arborists
programme which has been recognised by the International Society of Arborists. In FY2007,
the programme upgraded the skills of 34 landscape professionals.

24

In FY2007, through NTUC, WDA spent $12 million in the JRP initiatives, benefiting more than
15,000 workers. See Chart 5.

12,000
10,000
8,000
6,000
4,000
2,000
0

07 Achieved

08 Targets

Unemployed placed

Mature PMETs

Upgraders with higher pay

Customer Centric Initiative

Re-skilling of Low Wage Workers

Re-deployment

Re-employment of older workers

Back to Work Women

SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY ANNUAL REPORT 2007/2008 | 25

BRINGING CET TO THE WORKFORCE

BRINGING CET TO THE WORKFORCE

ADVANTAGE!

Job Placements

As part of its efforts to help older workers remain economically productive, the Government
will enact re-employment legislation by January 2012 to enable more people to continue
working beyond the current statutory retirement age of 62, up to 65 in the first instance and
later, up to 67. This would require employers to adjust their human resource practices to offer
older workers re-employment opportunities, including alternative job roles, and with some
adjustments in employment terms, if necessary. More importantly, it would also entail a
significant shift in the mindsets of both employers and employees. Companies will do well
by starting early and putting in place good human resource systems and practices ahead
of the legislation.

WDA has been working with NTUC and the Community Development Councils (CDCs) to
help unemployed and economically inactive Singaporeans find and secure jobs. We assessed
them for various job openings and training needs, provided career counselling and training
advice, and helped facilitate training, interviews and job placements.

WDA has implemented the ADVANTAGE! Scheme with NTUC and the Singapore National
Employers Federation (SNEF) to encourage companies to start making the necessary
adjustments before the legislation is enacted. In 2007, together with our tripartite partners,
we helped 379 companies to re-engineer practices in recruiting and retaining mature workers,
and re-employing workers aged 62 and above. These companies committed to recruiting a
total of 1,500 mature workers and re-employing more than 1,600 workers beyond the age
of 62. In FY2007, WDA disbursed $8.3 million under ADVANTAGE!.

In FY2007, about 16,000 job seekers were successfully placed in a wide variety of sectors,
including retail, security, tourism, logistics, transport and manufacturing. Among them, 11,200
job seekers received training to improve their employability and increase their confidence,
before they were successfully placed in jobs. 59 per cent of the job seekers placed were 40
years and above, and about 81 per cent of them had secondary or below education. See
Charts 6 and 7.

Chart 6: Percentage of Job Placements by Age Group and Education Level in FY2007
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Employer-Based Programmes

Chart 7: Breakdown of Placements by Sector

Besides bringing training programmes and Government assistance directly to workers, WDA
continues to support and incentivise employers to train and upgrade the skills of their workers.

20

The Skills Development Fund (SDF) is the primary avenue to support employer-based training.
Excluding the funding for BEST and WISE programmes, WDA committed a total of $99.9
million in FY2007 to help employers defray the training fees for 384,434 training places. Out
of the total number of training places, 68 per cent were for workers with GCE ‘A’ level
qualifications and below and 36 per cent were committed for workers aged 40 and above.
81,980 or 21 per cent of training places were committed for small and medium enterprises.

Percentage (%)
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Under the SDF system, employers contribute a Skills Development Levy. In turn, companies
can apply for reimbursement of their training expenditure through the SDF. From FY2007, the
reimbursement rates were reduced from $11 to $7 per hour for workers aged below 40 and
from $16 to $11 per hour for those aged 40 and above. The reduction is to better reflect the
cost structure of delivering training programmes and enhance the efficiency of the training
industry. It has also resulted in a better distribution between worker-based and employerbased funding for CET.
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WDA also collaborated with the polytechnics and ITE to extend educational opportunities to
adult learners. In FY2007, we spent $13.8 million on the 1-Institute-2 Systems scheme funded
through the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund (LLEF), where the polytechnics and ITE
provided an avenue for adult learners to enroll in part-time NITEC and diploma courses, and
upgrade their academic qualifications.

Other Services include:
Membership Organisation Activities
Other Services Activities
Repair & Maintainance of Vehicles, Office
Equipment, Personal & Household
Goods

Another 1,020 job seekers were helped through programmes targeted at specific segments
of job seekers. For example, CareerLink Plus, the collaboration of the Self-Help Groups to
help the long term unemployed, placed 585 job seekers; the Dedicated Employability
Programme for Single Mothers placed 206 job seekers; and 221 job seekers were placed
through Project Phoenix which was aimed at helping ex-convicts.
In FY2007, a total of $7.9 million was disbursed to facilitate employment through the CDCs.
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Another 1,020 job seekers were helped through programmes targeted at specific segments
of job seekers. For example, CareerLink Plus, the collaboration of the Self-Help Groups to
help the long term unemployed, placed 585 job seekers; the Dedicated Employability
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Tourism

Precision Engineering

Community & Social Services

With the help of UNLV and
WDA, l have overcome my
initial inertia and found the
confidence and competencies
to embark on a brand new
career in an exciting growing
industry.

It was not easy to look for a job, especially at
my age, I am very fortunate to be able to work
for Makino which values continuous upgrading
for its employees. I became more confident in
doing the job well after training. Compared
to the usual on-the-job training, Precision
Engineering WSQ training is more flexible and
systematic. The Statements of Attainment in
Precision Engineering WSQ which I have attained
provides formal recognition of my skills sets
and experience. The training helps to upgrade
my skills and also provides a stepping stone for
promotion and better career opportunities.

Taking up this course is not merely to look for
a job. More importantly, it is about lifelong
learning. The training has made me more
knowledgeable, responsible and caring in many
ways. I know how to respond appropriately to
the needs of patients and attend to their
emotions as well.

Carolyn Leow Ker Wei
29 years old
Hydl Inc

As a teacher for more than five years, Carolyn enjoyed
planning and organising events, for example, overseas trip
for both her students and school staff. Unsure whether she
should make a career switch from teaching to the Meetings,
Incentives, Conventions and Exhibitions (MICE) sector, she
attended the course briefing conducted by WDA about career
opportunities in the tourism sector. Convinced that there are
bright career prospects in the sector, she took the plunge to
register for the WSQ Diploma in Tourism offered by the
University of Nevada Las Vegas (UNLV). This programme,
which incorporates interactive classroom lessons and elearning, offered Carolyn an opportunity to learn from UNLV
faculty members as well as industry practitioners. She also
met classmates from different backgrounds which provided
a diverse and rich learning experience.
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UNLV arranged for Carolyn to do a 3-month internship at the
Hydl Inc, a sister company of Festive Square Circle, where
she enjoyed wide industry exposure. Upon her graduation
from the WSQ diploma course, she was immediately offered
a job at the same company and has already been involved
in organising conferences, launches and opening ceremonies
for events such as the Airshow and the west-end musical
hit, We Will Rock You.

Zuklifle Bin Tukiran
42 years old
Machine Technician
Makino Asia Pte Ltd

Zuklifle was working as a driver for a couple of logistics and
transportation companies for seven years when he was
retrenched due to structural unemployment. With only
Secondary One education and a NTC3 Certificate in
Machining, he was nevertheless recruited as an apprentice
machine technician in Makino Asia Pte Ltd because of his
prior experience as a machinist before he became a driver.
Four years into the job, he is now a machine technician.
Zuklifle was recently certified competent through Precision
Engineering WSQ training.

Rosyanti Bte Abdullah

50 years old
Community Healthcare Assistant
Ling Kwang Home

Rosyanti had been working as a room attendant for 17
months when her employer went through a restructuring and
terminated her contract in January 2007. Since then, she
has been unemployed.
Due to her lack of academic qualifications, she did not think
she stands a chance to fulfil her dream of entering the
healthcare industry. Fortunately for Rosyanti, her dream came
true after she went for skills upgrading at the Hua Mei Institute
to become a Healthcare Assistant. Not only does it open the
door for her to join the sector she has always wanted, it also
provides her with an employment opportunity.
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Generic Manufacturing

The course is very useful.
Through this course, I have
picked up technical skills
that I can apply to my
current job and add value
to the workplace. The
certification has made me
employable and allows me
to take on bigger role with
the organisation.

Landscape

Marine

After going through the training, I have a better
understanding of how to handle plants and
thus I can take on a bigger role in the job. I
hope I can continue to upgrade my skills for
better career prospects.

The Workplace Information and Communication
Technologies course gave me confidence to
go into a new area of work. After that course,
I left my part time job to take on a trainee
supervisory position in an industry I have never
dreamt of going into. I am glad I took the course.

Lee Kwang Meng

51 years old
Supervisor
Toh Eng Hock Construction Pte Ltd

Thinagaswaran

22 years old
Trainee Supervisor
Singapore Technologies Marine

Jaganathan Krishna Murthy
49 years old
Technician
SBS Transit

Murthy was retrenched in 2007 and had difficulty finding a
job again. In December 2007, he attended the NTUC initiated
Screen-Train-Place-Train programme to help unemployed
individuals to find manufacturing job placements.
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At the screening session, he was recommended to be put
through the WSQ Certificate in Generic Manufacturing (CGM)
Skills course where he would be taught and assessed in
fundamental skills needed for the manufacturing industry. On
top of this, all his course fees were supported by both WDA
and NTUC. He eventually attended the WSQ Apply Teamwork
in the Workplace and Certificate in Generic Manufacturing
integrated assessment.

Kwang Meng has been a driver for over 10 years. Due to his
interest in plants, he switched to a career in the landscape
industry. To help him acquire professional skills in landscaping,
his company sent him for training under the Landscape WSQ.

Thinagaswaran was unable to find full time employment after
he completed his National Service in 2006. Wanting to lessen
the financial burden on his family, Thinagaswaran applied for
many jobs but was not successful, which affected his selfconfidence. He then turned to the Career Centre for assistance
in June 2007. Through the career centre, he signed up for
the ESS assessment and other courses. During the training,
he became more receptive to job opportunities in other
industries. He has signed a two-year contract with Singapore
Technologies Marine and started work, with a monthly pay
of $1,200. Under the ASMI Super V scheme, his employer
sent him to attend part time NITEC course to upgrade himself.

Murthy is now working as a technician with SBS Transit.
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STEERING CET FOR TOMORROW’S WORKFORCE

In February 2008, Prime Minister Lee Hsien Loong announced
the National CET Masterplan, which sets out the
Government’s long term strategy in developing a robust
and effective CET system for Singapore.
To support the implementation of the Masterplan, the Government topped up the Lifelong
Learning Endowment Fund from $2.2 billion to $3 billion in FY2007, and will progressively
top up the Fund to reach $5 billion in the next few years.
The Masterplan affirms the direction of WDA’s work since its inception in 2003, and its
implementation will be WDA’s central focus in the years to come. WDA envisages that the
CET system will evolve in the following ways:
Focus on Skills and Accessibility
The WSQ system will be a key feature of the national CET system. It is targeted at adult
workers of all ages, all collars and at all levels of organisations. It is also competency based,
i.e. focus on skills requirements of industries and training workers to perform at these jobs.
This is different from academic programmes in schools, polytechnics or universities, which
focus on personal development and knowledge accumulation for young people.
CET programmes will have a strong focus on outcomes to ensure that we reap the benefits
of competency-based training, i.e. trainees will apply their newly acquired competencies at
their current jobs, or switch to different industries where new opportunities abound. The CET
system will be evaluated regularly and reviewed based on tangible outcomes.
However, there may be training programmes where employers will be less willing to support
their workers to go through, such as re-skilling for new industries. Therefore, the CET system
must also strike a balance between being employer-based and worker-based. Employers
should be able to leverage on the system to upgrade their workforce and benefit their
companies. At the same time, workers must be empowered by the open accessibility of the
system, so that they can take initiative to upgrade their skills or switch to other industries to
seize new opportunities.

STEERING CET
FOR TOMORROW’S
WORKFORCE
34

Today, the split in funding support between employer- and worker-based programmes is
about 60:40. WDA’s target is to achieve a 50:50 balance. This means more open enrolment
programmes at CET Centres, and more Place and Train/Train and Place programmes which
will be open to all workers. As the range of worker-based programmes expands, WDA will
need to cater to a wider segment of the workforce - young and old, workers from manufacturing
and services sectors, and from rank-and-file workers to professionals, managers and executives.
The median worker whom WDA helps should correspond with that of the workforce and will
likely be a polytechnic diploma holder, because by 2020, nearly 60 per cent of our resident
workforce will have at least a diploma qualification.
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Better Industry Coverage, Bigger Training Capacity

Professional Development of Adult Trainers

Today, the CET system already covers all major sectors of the economy. WDA will extend the
system to other sectors, such as the integrated resorts, spa and logistics. More importantly,
WDA will continue to engage industries through the Industry Skills and Training Councils, stay
in touch with developments in the industries and competitive landscape, update the WSQ
sectoral frameworks and skills standards, and maintain the relevance of WSQ programmes.

A key group of professionals that will support the development of the CET Masterplan is the
adult trainers. Training the adults require different skill sets, compared to teachers who educate
the students. The training needs of adults are varied, unique and different from students, and
require different training approaches and techniques. For example, adult trainees are much
more eager to know how training relates directly to their work, and they also have a higher
propensity to share their work experiences for the benefit of others.

In addition, WDA will also continue to review and improve generic skills programmes, such as
ESS and the Workplace Safety and Health. These programmes are essential in helping workers
stay versatile and deployable across industries.
Training capacity at CET Centres will increase steadily. WDA expects training capacity at the
CET Centres to quadruple from 20,000 workers today to 80,000 workers in the next few years,
equivalent to 240,000 SOAs. This excludes the training capacity available at the smaller Approved
Training Organisations. At 80,000 workers, the capacity will be approximately equivalent to ITE’s
current training capacity. See Chart 8.
Chart 8: Training Capacity of CET Centres
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A Strong Societal Mindset towards Skills Upgrading
Singaporeans generally have a strong and healthy desire to acquire knowledge and upgrade
their academic qualifications. However, in a fast changing and highly competitive environment,
this alone is not enough. Many jobs in the current economy, from chefs, service executives,
human resource executives, event organisers, designers, digital animation artists, precision
engineers, aerospace technicians to social workers, require hands-on and practical skills.
Workers therefore also need to keenly pursue skills attainment and upgrading, so that they can
better apply their knowledge, and possess the practical capabilities to perform in their jobs.
In the coming years, WDA will step up the promotion of CET, to underscore the importance
of skills training in enhancing workers’ employability and career advancement opportunities.
We will anchor a multi-year publicity programme around our vision statement, promoting the
message of ‘Learning for Life, Advancing with Skills’. This programme will comprise a broad
range of publicity and outreach activities, and aim to change our society’s mindset to place
greater importance on skills training.
36

WDA has therefore established the Institute of Adult Learning on 1 April 2008. The Institute
of Adult Learning is a partnership between WDA, Ngee Ann Polytechnic, Singapore Polytechnic,
and the ITE. Its role is to oversee the professional development of adult trainers, expand the
adult training talent pool, develop training programmes for adult trainers, and provide thought
leadership in CET through research and other activities.
Recognising the Best CET Centres

300,000
250,000

However, while Singapore has the National Institute of Education (NIE) under the Ministry of
Education to prepare and develop talents to enter the teaching profession, there is no NIE
equivalent for adult trainers.

We will progressively establish a clear hierarchy of CET providers. At the base are the Approved
Training Organisations, which include in-house providers training their own employees, and
third party training providers serving specific clients. Above them are the CET Centres, which
are industry training centres with proven track record, performing a full range of services from
promotion of CET to industries, screening of training participants and training delivery to
career advisory and placement.
Moving forward, WDA will expand this training structure by creating another class of training
providers, called the National CET Institutes. National CET Institute is the pinnacle status
of CET providers, conferred on CET Centres holding a strong track record in the delivery of
quality programmes, showing outstanding achievements, and establishing themselves as
authoritative, innovative flagship training providers for the industries they serve. Besides the
special recognition, a National CET Institute will also be able to provide training assessment
services for the industry and expand its WSQ programmes overseas.
An Excellent Organisation
At the same time, WDA will continue to deepen its capabilities and strengthen our organisation.
This ultimately boils down to how we value, nurture and develop our people. As a public
organisation in the business of helping workers learn for life and advance with skills, WDA
must be outstanding in our own people development practices.
We will achieve our objectives with a multi-pronged approach. First, constantly reinforce
values of growth and care for our people and teamwork across Divisions. Second, strengthen
our appraisal system to ensure that it is objective, robust, fair and seen to be fair, so that we
know the strengths, weaknesses, hopes and aspirations of all our officers. Third, provide
career development pathways that are differentiated according to the strengths, interests and
aspirations of our officers. Fourth, institute a prompt and effective recognition system that
gives credit where it is due, manages poorer performers with dignity, and entrusts bigger
responsibilities on those who have demonstrated higher potential. Finally, set high standards
for the leadership team, enhance the bench strength of the senior team, develop their
leadership qualities, and provide opportunities for self-reflection and improvement.
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Ong Ye Kung

4

Director
Community & Professional
Services Division
(with effect from 7 Jan 2008)

Chief Executive
Covering Director
Incentives & Finance Division
(till 1 Oct 2008)
2

Dr Gary Willmott

5

Deputy Chief Executive
Executive Director
Institute of Adult Learning
(with effect from 1 Jun 2008)
3

Lynn Ng

Goh Eng Ghee
Deputy Chief Executive

7

12
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Teo Sio Hoon
Jennifer Tan
Director
Employment Facilitation Division
and Policy Division

9

Hui Mei San
Director
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Services Division
(with effect from 1 Sep 2008)
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Sim Soo Kheng
Director
Corporate & Marketing
Communications Division
(with effect from 11 Jan 2008)

Gog Soon Joo
Director
Quality Assurance Division

James Ong
Head of Division/Chief Information Officer
Information Technology Division
(with effect from 1 May 2008)

Director
Tourism Division
8

Dr Hee Soo Yin
Director
Generic Skills Development Division

Kevin Chua
Director
Corporate Development Division

Sharon Tan
Director
Incentives & Finance Division
(with effect from 1 Oct 2008)

Julia Ng
Director
Manufacturing & Construction Division
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Anil Das
Director
Employment Facilitation Division
and Policy Division
(till 1 Oct 2007)
Seconded to Ministry of Health (MOH)
Holdings Pte Ltd

Kelly Hee (not in picture)
Director
Healthcare, Retail & Business
Services Division
(till 25 July 2008)
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AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

AUDITOR’S
REPORT

We have been engaged by the Auditor-General to audit the accompanying financial statements
of Singapore Workforce Development Agency (“the Agency”), set out on pages 3 to 27. The
financial statements comprise the balance sheet as at 31 March 2008, the income and expenditure
statement, statement of changes in capital and accumulated surplus and cash flow statement
of the Agency for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory notes.
Agency’s management responsibility for the financial statements
The Agency’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Workforce Development
Agency Act, Cap. 305D (“the Act”) and Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards. This
responsibility includes:
(a) devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide
a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use
or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as
necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance
sheets and to maintain accountability of assets;

AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion:
(a) the financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the
Act and the statutory board financial reporting standards so as to give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Agency as at 31 March 2008 and the results, changes in capital
and accumulated surplus and cash flows of the Agency for the financial year ended on that
date; and
(b) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Agency have been
properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.
During the course of our audit, nothing came to our notice that caused us to believe that the
receipts, expenditure, investment of monies, acquisitions and disposals of assets by the Agency
during the financial year have not been in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

(b) selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and
(c) making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Agency’s management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

01

Foo Kon Tan Grant Thornton
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore, 27 June 2008
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BALANCE SHEET

BALANCE
SHEET

INCOME & EXPENDITURE STATEMENT

Notes
Assets
Non–Current
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible Assets
Current
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Prepayments
Cash and bank deposits
Liabilities
Non–Current
Deferred government capital grant
Current
Payables
Provision for contribution to
Consolidated Fund

Net assets
Net Assets of Specific Fund
Skills Development Fund
Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund
Skills Redevelopment Programme

3
4

31 March 2007
$

5,459,715
143,724

3,918,005
88,991

90,446
1,142,809
806,952
36,094,791
38,134,998

–
3,627,682
358,505
27,625,072
31,611,259

7

4,211,138

2,107,694

8

13,587,344

10,250,309

16

719,054
14,306,398

1,315,036
11,565,345

25,220,901

21,945,216

845,919,164
1,337,801
28,089,010
875,345,975
900,566,876

798,417,775
1,556,933
44,138,342
844,113,050
866,058,266

7,872,073
17,348,828
25,220,901

7,872,073
14,073,143
21,945,216

845,919,164
1,337,801
28,089,010
900,566,876

798,417,775
1,556,933
44,138,342
866,058,266

5
6

9
10
11

Represented by:
Capital account
Accumulated surplus

Skills Development Fund
Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund
Skills Redevelopment Programme

31 March 2008
$

9
10
11

Tan Pheng Hock

Ong Ye Kung

Chairman

Chief Executive
Singapore Workforce Development Agency

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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Year ended
31 March 2008
$

Year ended
31 March 2007
$

265,002
99,194
496,165
918,867
35,862
1,815,090

82,883
112,270
472,432
–
547
668,132

11,676,190
1,185,413
2,540,846
1,421,539
30,670,742
47,494,730

10,211,653
882,080
1,564,297
1,204,143
22,716,866
36,579,039

13
14
15

(45,679,640)
524,118
49,150,261

(35,910,907)
–
42,486,087

16

3,994,739
(719,054)
3,275,685

6,575,180
(1,315,036)
5,260,144

Notes
Income
Workers’ assessment fees
Application fees
Interest income on bank deposits
Rental income
Other income
Expenditure
Administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Grant disbursements
Rental expenses
Employee benefit costs

Excess of expenditure over
income before grants
Exceptional item
Grants
Surplus before contribution to
Consolidated Fund
Contribution to Consolidated Fund
Net surplus for the year

3, 4
12

INCOME
AND
EXPENDITURE
STATEMENT

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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INCOME
AND
EXPENDITURE
STATEMENT

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CAPITAL AND ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

STATEMENT
OF CHANGES
IN CAPITAL
AND
ACCUMULATED
SURPLUS

Balance at 1 April 2006
Net surplus for the year
Balance at 31 March 2007
Net surplus for the year
Balance at 31 March 2008

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Capital
Account
$
7,872,073
–
7,872,073
–
7,872,073

Accumulated
Surplus
$
8,812,999
5,260,144
14,073,143
3,275,685
17,348,828

Total
$
16,685,072
5,260,144
21,945,216
3,275,685
25,220,901

Notes
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Excess of expenditure over
income before grants
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
3,4
Capital work–in–progress expensed off
3
Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Interest income
Operating deficit before working
capital changes
Decrease/(increase) in operating receivables
Increase in operating payables
Contribution to Consolidated Fund
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Acquisition of property, plant and
equipment and intangibles
Fixed deposit
Interest received
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Net cash (used in)/generated from
investing activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activity
Grants received from Government
Exceptional item
Net cash generated from financing activity
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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3,4

Year ended
31 March 2008
$

(45,679,640)
1,185,413
37,327

6

CASH FLOW
STATEMENT

(35,910,907)
882,080
20,107

4,657
(496,165)

5,399
(472,432)

(44,948,408)
1,897,566
1,463,019
(1,315,036)
(42,902,859)

(35,475,753)
(3,094,666)
553,283
(1,204,615)
(39,221,751)

(2,824,339)
–
544,578

(932,780)
5,000,000
537,572

500

14

Year ended
31 March 2007
$

6,170

(2,279,261)

4,610,962

53,127,721
524,118
53,651,839
8,469,719

42,065,403
–
42,065,403
7,454,614

27,625,072
36,094,791

20,170,458
27,625,072

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1

General information

1

General information (cont’d)

The Singapore Workforce Development Agency (“the Agency”) was established in The Republic
of Singapore under the Singapore Workforce Development Agency Act, Cap. 305D.

(p) to undertake, direct and support the analysis and dissemination of labour market
information and trends to the public;

The financial statements of the Agency for the year ended 31 March 2008 were authorised for
issue by the Board on 27 June 2008.

(q) to represent the Government internationally in respect of matters relating to adult continuing
education and training and public employment services; and

The principal activities of the Agency are:

(r) to carry out such other functions as are imposed upon the Agency by or under the Act or
any other written law.

(a) to serve as the national body in the areas of adult continuing education and training, a n d
the facilitation of employment and re-employment, and to advise and make recommendations
to the Government on matters, measures and regulations connected with such areas,
including formulation of policies, and the provision of infrastructure and facilities in relation
to such areas;
(b) to promote, facilitate and assist in the development of adult continuing education and training
so as to enhance the competitiveness and employability of the Singapore workforce;
(c) to collaborate with industries and economic agencies to identify and promote the enhancement
of industry-specific skills;
(d) to promote the development, competitiveness and employability of the Singapore workforce
through co-ordination with economic agencies;
(e) to support, facilitate and assist in the re-employment of unemployed or retrenched persons
through job referral, retraining, upgrading of skills and other employment facilitation efforts;
(f) to enhance, promote and support the use and improvement of best practices in the
management of human capital and workforce skills development in Singapore;
(g) to encourage, promote and facilitate the development of the human resources industry
in Singapore;
(h) to promote, facilitate and assist in the identification, development and upgrading of skills
and competencies required of the workforce to support Singapore’s economy;
(i)

to support, direct, encourage and undertake research in adult continuing education and
training;

(j)

to direct, promote and facilitate the upgrading of adult continuing education and training
infrastructure, and the upgrading of professional standards of adult trainers;

The registered office and principle place of operation of the Agency is located at 1 Marina
Boulevard #16-01 One Marina Boulevard, Singapore 018989.
2(a) Effect of changes in legislation
Pursuant to the Accounting Standards Act 2007 which came into effect on 1 November 2007,
statutory boards are required to prepare and present their financial statements in compliance
with the accounting standards established by the Accountant-General, known as the Statutory
Board Financial Reporting Standards (“SB-FRS”). Hence, these financial statements, including
the comparative figures, have been prepared in accordance with SB-FRS. The SB-FRS will
have the same effective dates as those previously adopted under Singapore Financial Reporting
Standards.
Previously, the Agency prepared its financial statements in accordance with Singapore Financial
Reporting Standards. The adoption of SB-FRS did not have material impact on the accounting
policies of the Agency and figures presented in the financial statements for the financial year
ended 31 March 2008, other than the exemption from disclosure of transactions and balances
with other state-controlled entities previously required under Singapore Financial Reporting
Standards 24 - Related Party Disclosure.
2(b) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, and in
accordance with the provision of Singapore Workforce Development Agency Act, Cap. 305D
and SB-FRS.

(k) to establish and implement regulatory policies, codes of practice, strategies, measures
or any other requirements so as to enhance the professional standards of adult continuing
education and training offered in Singapore;
(l)

to administer programmes for adult continuing education and training;

(m) to undertake the promotion of lifelong learning and to create, foster and encourage public
awareness and understanding of the importance of lifelong learning;
(n) to administer the Skills Development Fund (“the SDF”) in accordance with the Skills
Development Levy Act (Cap. 306);
(o) to provide financial support by way of grants, loans or otherwise so as to give effect to the
functions and objects of the Agency;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Significant accounting estimates and judgements

2(d) SB-FRS and SB-INT FRS issued but not yet effective

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with FRS requires the use of estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the financial year. Although these estimates are based on
management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may differ from
those estimates.

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following SB-FRS and
INT SB-FRS were issued but not effective:

The critical accounting estimates and assumptions used and areas involving a high degree of
judgements are described below:
Depreciation and amortisation of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. Management estimates the useful lives of these property, plant and equipment to
be within 3 to 8 years and that of intangible assets to be within 3 to 5 years. The carrying
amount as at 31 March 2008 of the Agency’s property, plant and equipment is $5,459,715
(2007: $3,918,005) and intangible asset is $143,724 (2007: $88,991). Changes in the expected
level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic useful lives and the
residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation/amortisation charges could be
revised.
2(c) Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2007
On 1 April 2007, the Agency adopted the new or revised SB-FRS and INT SB-FRS that are
mandatory for application on their respective dates. This includes the following SB-FRS and
INT SB-FRS which are relevant to the Agency as a single entity:
Effective date
(Annual periods
beginning on or after)
SB-FRS 32
SB-FRS 40
INT SB-FRS 108
INT SB-FRS 109
INT SB-FRS 110
INT SB-FRS 111

Financial Instruments: Presentation
Investment Property
Scope of SB-FRS 102, Share-based Payment
Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment
Group and Treasury Share Transactions

01.01.2007
01.01.2007
01.05.2006
01.06.2006
01.11.2006
01.03.2007

The adoption of the above SB-FRS and INT SB-FRS did not result in any significant changes
to the Agency’s accounting policies nor any significant impact on these financial statements.

SB-FRS 1
SB-FRS 2
SB-FRS 7
SB-FRS 8
SB-FRS11
SB-FRS 16
SB-FRS 19
SB-FRS 23
SB-FRS 27
SB-FRS 33
SB-FRS 34
SB-FRS 36
SB-FRS 38
SB-FRS 101
SB-FRS 105
SB-FRS 106
SB-FRS 108
INT SB-FRS 101
INT SB-FRS 104
INT SB-FRS 112

Amendment to SB-FRS 1 (revised)
Presentation of Financial Statements
(Capital Disclosures)
Inventories
Cash Flow Statements
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and errors
Construction Contracts
Property, Plant and Equipment
Employee Benefits
Borrowing Costs
Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements
Earnings per Share
Interim Financial Reporting
Impairment of Assets
Intangible Assets
Implementation Guidance
Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations
Exploration for and Evaluation of
Mineral Resources
Operating Segments
– Service Concession Arrangements
Changes in Existing Decommissioning,
Restoration and Similar Liabilities
Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease
Service Concession Arrangements
Amendments to Service Concession
Arrangements

Effective date
(Annual periods
beginning on or after)
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2008
01.01.2009
01.01.2008
01.01.2009

The Agency expects that the adoption of the above pronouncements will not have a significant
impact on the financial statements in the period of initial application.
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2(e) Summary of significant accounting policies

Financial assets

Income recognition

Financial assets include cash and financial instruments. Financial assets, other than hedging
instruments, can be divided into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial
assets. Financial assets are assigned to the different categories by management on initial recognition,
depending on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. The designation of financial
assets is re-evaluated and classification may be changed at the reporting date with the exception
that the designation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is not revocable.

Workers’ assessment fees, application fees and interest income are recognised on an accrual basis.
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method.
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, if any. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method to write off the cost of
these assets over their expected useful lives as follows:
Furniture and fittings
Office equipment
Computer equipment and software

8 years
5 years
3-5 years

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items. Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as part
of the cost of property, plant and equipment if the obligation for dismantlement, removal or
restoration is incurred as a consequence of acquiring or using the asset. Cost may also include
transfers from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment, if any.
For acquisitions and disposals during the financial year, depreciation is provided from the month
of acquisition to the month before disposal respectively. No depreciation is provided on capital
work-in-progress. Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment are retained in the accounts
until they are no longer in use.

All financial assets, less those recognised using hedging accounting, are recognised on their
settlement date. Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which are
recognised at fair value.
Derecognition of financial instruments occurs when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments expire or are transferred and substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership
have been transferred. An assessment for impairment is undertaken at least at each balance
sheet date whether or not there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired.
Non-compounding interest and other cash flows resulting from holding financial assets are
recognised in profit or loss when received, regardless of how the related carrying amount of
financial assets is measured.
•

Property, plant and equipment costing less than $2,000 each are charged to the income and
expenditure statement in the year of purchase as low value assets.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium in acquisition.
Amortisation is calculated according to SB-FRS No. 39, effective interest method to write
off any premium or discount on acquisition of bonds over the period from acquisition to
their maturity.

Repairs and maintenance are taken to the income and expenditure statement. The cost of
major renovations and restorations is included in the carrying amount of the asset when it is
probable that future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed standard of
performance of the existing asset will flow to the Agency, and depreciated over the remaining
useful life of the asset.

In addition, if there is objective evidence that the investment has been impaired, the
financial asset is measured at the present value of estimated cash flows. Any changes
to the carrying amount of the investment are recognised in the income and expenditure
statement. Any reversal shall not result in a carrying amount that exceeds what the
amortised cost would have been had any impairment loss not been recognised at the
date the impairment is reversed. Any reversal is recognised in the income and expenditure
statement.

Where an indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount of the asset is assessed and
written down immediately to its recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amounts
and are included in the income and expenditure statement.
Intangible assets and amortisation
Intangible assets are accounted for using the cost method. Capitalised costs are amortised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives for those considered as finite useful lives.
Intangible assets

3-5 years

After initial recognition, they are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. In addition, they are subject to annual impairment testing. Indefinite
life intangibles are not amortised but are subject to annual impairment testing.

Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and a fixed date of maturity that the Agency has the positive intent and ability
to hold to maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

•

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. They arise when the Agency provides money,
goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the receivables. They are
included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance
sheet date. These are classified as non-current assets.

Intangible assets are written off where, in the opinion of the directors, no further future economic
benefits are expected to arise.
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Financial assets (cont’d)

Grants

•

Operating grants to meet the current year’s operating expenditure are recognised as income
in the same year.

THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

Loans and receivables (cont’d)
Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment. Any change in their value is recognised
in income statement. Any reversal shall not result in a carrying amount that exceeds what
the amortised cost would have been had any impairment loss not been recognised at the
date the impairment is reversed. Any reversal is recognised in the income and expenditure
statement.
Receivables are provided against when objective evidence is received that the Agency will
not be able to collect all amounts due to it in accordance with the original terms of the
receivables. The amount of the write-down is determined as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows.

•

Determination of fair value
The fair values of quoted financial assets are based on current bid prices. If the market
for a financial asset is not active, the Agency establishes fair value by using valuation
techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other
instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option
pricing models.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, bank deposits with a short maturity of three
months or less and deposits held at call with a central government agency.
Financial liabilities
The Agency’s financial liabilities include payables.
Financial liabilities are recognised when the Agency becomes a party to the contractual
agreements of the instrument. All interest related charges is recognised as an expense in
“finance costs” in the income and expenditure statement.
Payables are initially carried at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in
the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Agency. Subsequently,
payables are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Operating and capital grants for the purchase of depreciable assets and donations of depreciable
assets are taken to deferred government capital grants. The deferred grants are recognised
in the income and expenditure statement over the periods necessary to match the amortisation
or impairment of the assets purchased with the related grants and the net book values of such
assets disposed.
Government grants for establishment of the Agency are recorded in the capital account.
Grants are accounted for on an accrual basis.
Operating leases
Leases of assets in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained
by the lessor are classified as operating leases.
Rentals on operating leases are charged to income and expenditure statement on a straightline basis over the lease term. Lease incentives, if any, are recognised as an integral part of
the net consideration agreed for the use of the leased asset. Penalty payments on early
termination, if any, are recognised in the income and expenditure statement when incurred.
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Agency has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as
a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of
the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the
current best estimates.
Employee benefits
•

Contribution to Central Provident Fund
The Agency contributes to the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”), a defined contribution
plan regulated and managed by the Government of Singapore, which applies to the
majority of the employees. The Agency’s contributions to CPF are charged to the income
and expenditure statement in the period to which the contributions relate.

•

Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.
Provision is made for the estimated liability for unconsumed leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

Contribution to Consolidated Fund
The contribution to the Consolidated Fund is required under Section 3(a) of the Statutory
Corporations (Contributions to Consolidated Fund) Act (Cap. 319A). The contribution is pegged
at the prevailing statutory income tax rate for corporate bodies.
Accounting surplus would be used for the purpose of computing the Contribution and this is
accounted for on an accrual basis.
Trust and agency funds
Trust and agency funds are set up to account for monies held in trust for external parties.
Income and expenditure of these funds are taken directly to the funds and the net assets relating
to these funds are shown as a separate item in the balance sheet.
Trust and agency funds are accounted for on an accrual basis.

13

Impairment of assets
The carrying amounts of the Agency’s assets subject to impairment are reviewed at each
balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such
indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, then the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs will be identified.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). As a result, some assets
are tested individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level. All
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Impairment of assets (cont’d)

3

Property, plant and equipment

individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair
value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell and value in use, based on an internal
discounted cash flow evaluation.
Any impairment loss is charged to the income and expenditure statement unless it reverses a
previous revaluation in which case it is charged to equity.
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount or when there is an indication that the impairment loss recognised for
the asset no longer exists or decreases.
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined if no impairment loss had been recognised.
A reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is credited directly to equity under the
heading revaluation surplus. However, to the extent that an impairment loss on the same
revalued asset was previously recognised as an expense in the income and expenditure
statement, a reversal of that impairment loss is recognised as income in the income and
expenditure statement.
Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of the Agency are measured using the currency that
best reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to
the Agency (“the functional currency”). The financial statements of the Agency are presented
in Singapore dollars, which is also the functional currency of the Agency.
Conversion of foreign currencies
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into Singapore dollars at rates
of exchange closely approximating those ruling at balance sheet date. Transactions in foreign
currencies are converted at rates closely approximating those ruling at transaction dates.
Exchange differences arising from such transactions are recorded in the income and expenditure
statement in the period in which they arise.
Currency translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equity investments held at
fair value through profit or loss, are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Currency
translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equity investments classified as availablefor sale financial assets, are included in the fair value reserve within equity.
However, where a foreign currency transaction is to be settled at a contracted rate or is covered
by a related or matching forward contract, the rate of exchange specified in the contract will
be used and any corresponding monetary assets or liabilities will not be retranslated.
Financial instruments

Furniture
and fittings
$

Office
equipment
$

Computer
equipment
$

Capital work–
in–progress
$

Total
$

3,683,152
2,213

755,726
52,706

977,623
2,121

25,817
819,528

5,442,318
876,568

146,878

–

–

Cost
At 1 April 2006
Additions
Transfer from capital
work-in-progress
Transfer to income and
expenditure statement*
Disposals
At 31 March 2007
Additions
Transfer from SDF
Transfer from capital
work-in-progress
Transfer to income and
expenditure statement*
Disposals
At 31 March 2008

(37,327)
(7,736)
4,164,578

–
(28,700)
842,937

–
(1,998,268)
1,945,657

–
–
2,444,266

(37,327)
(2,034,704)
9,397,438

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2006
Depreciation for the year
Disposals
At 31 March 2007
Transfer from SDF
Depreciation for the year
Disposals
At 31 March 2008

722,471
465,266
(9,586)
1,178,151
1,479
512,389
(2,579)
1,689,440

284,586
158,192
(5,788)
436,990
23,526
159,932
(28,700)
591,748

520,270
218,420
(62,204)
676,486
2,540,171
438,146
(1,998,268)
1,656,535

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

1,527,327
841,878
(77,578)
2,291,627
2,565,176
1,110,467
(2,029,547)
3,937,723

Net book value
At 31 March 2008
At 31 March 2007

2,475,138
2,633,550

251,189
365,041

–
(20,542)
3,811,701
68,082
10,925
318,933

–
(6,401)
802,031
44,433
25,173
–

–
(62,204)
917,540
192,111
2,834,274
–

289,122
241,054

(146,878)
(20,107)
–
678,360
2,084,839
–
(318,933)

2,444,266
678,360

–
(20,107)
(89,147)
6,209,632
2,389,465
2,870,372
–

5,459,715
3,918,005

* The transfer related to furniture and fittings and office equipment, which fell below the Agency’s capitalisation policy of amounts less than $2,000. These assets
were written off to the income and expenditure statement in FY2007 as they were previously capitalised under capital work–in–progress.

Financial instruments carried on the balance sheet include cash and cash equivalents, financial
assets and financial liabilities. The particular recognition methods adopted are disclosed in the
individual policy statements associated with each item.
Disclosures on financial risk management objectives and policies are provided in Note 20.
15
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Impairment of assets (cont’d)

3

Property, plant and equipment

individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair
value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell and value in use, based on an internal
discounted cash flow evaluation.
Any impairment loss is charged to the income and expenditure statement unless it reverses a
previous revaluation in which case it is charged to equity.
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount or when there is an indication that the impairment loss recognised for
the asset no longer exists or decreases.
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined if no impairment loss had been recognised.
A reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is credited directly to equity under the
heading revaluation surplus. However, to the extent that an impairment loss on the same
revalued asset was previously recognised as an expense in the income and expenditure
statement, a reversal of that impairment loss is recognised as income in the income and
expenditure statement.
Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of the Agency are measured using the currency that
best reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to
the Agency (“the functional currency”). The financial statements of the Agency are presented
in Singapore dollars, which is also the functional currency of the Agency.
Conversion of foreign currencies
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into Singapore dollars at rates
of exchange closely approximating those ruling at balance sheet date. Transactions in foreign
currencies are converted at rates closely approximating those ruling at transaction dates.
Exchange differences arising from such transactions are recorded in the income and expenditure
statement in the period in which they arise.
Currency translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equity investments held at
fair value through profit or loss, are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Currency
translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equity investments classified as availablefor sale financial assets, are included in the fair value reserve within equity.
However, where a foreign currency transaction is to be settled at a contracted rate or is covered
by a related or matching forward contract, the rate of exchange specified in the contract will
be used and any corresponding monetary assets or liabilities will not be retranslated.
Financial instruments

Furniture
and fittings
$

Office
equipment
$

Computer
equipment
$

Capital work–
in–progress
$

Total
$

3,683,152
2,213

755,726
52,706

977,623
2,121

25,817
819,528

5,442,318
876,568

146,878

–

–

Cost
At 1 April 2006
Additions
Transfer from capital
work-in-progress
Transfer to income and
expenditure statement*
Disposals
At 31 March 2007
Additions
Transfer from SDF
Transfer from capital
work-in-progress
Transfer to income and
expenditure statement*
Disposals
At 31 March 2008

(37,327)
(7,736)
4,164,578

–
(28,700)
842,937

–
(1,998,268)
1,945,657

–
–
2,444,266

(37,327)
(2,034,704)
9,397,438

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2006
Depreciation for the year
Disposals
At 31 March 2007
Transfer from SDF
Depreciation for the year
Disposals
At 31 March 2008

722,471
465,266
(9,586)
1,178,151
1,479
512,389
(2,579)
1,689,440

284,586
158,192
(5,788)
436,990
23,526
159,932
(28,700)
591,748

520,270
218,420
(62,204)
676,486
2,540,171
438,146
(1,998,268)
1,656,535

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

1,527,327
841,878
(77,578)
2,291,627
2,565,176
1,110,467
(2,029,547)
3,937,723

Net book value
At 31 March 2008
At 31 March 2007

2,475,138
2,633,550

251,189
365,041

–
(20,542)
3,811,701
68,082
10,925
318,933

–
(6,401)
802,031
44,433
25,173
–

–
(62,204)
917,540
192,111
2,834,274
–

289,122
241,054

(146,878)
(20,107)
–
678,360
2,084,839
–
(318,933)

2,444,266
678,360

–
(20,107)
(89,147)
6,209,632
2,389,465
2,870,372
–

5,459,715
3,918,005

* The transfer related to furniture and fittings and office equipment, which fell below the Agency’s capitalisation policy of amounts less than $2,000. These assets
were written off to the income and expenditure statement in FY2007 as they were previously capitalised under capital work–in–progress.

Financial instruments carried on the balance sheet include cash and cash equivalents, financial
assets and financial liabilities. The particular recognition methods adopted are disclosed in the
individual policy statements associated with each item.
Disclosures on financial risk management objectives and policies are provided in Note 20.
15
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4

Intangibles
Software
$

Cost
At 1 April 2006
Additions
Transfer from capital work-in-progress
At 31 March 2007
Additions
Transfer from SDF
At 31 March 2008
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2006
Amortisation for the year
At 31 March 2007
Transfer from SDF
Amortisation for the year
At 31 March 2008
Net book value
At 31 March 2008
At 31 March 2007
5

94,494
6,174
50,038
150,706
123,582
10,855
285,143

21,513
40,202
61,715
4,760
74,944
141,419

143,724
88,991

–
–
–
–
–
–

94,494
56,212
–
150,706
123,582
10,855
285,143

21,513
40,202
61,715
4,760
74,944
141,419

–
–

143,724
88,991

Other receivables
2008
$
395,750
747,059
1,142,809

2007
$
395,750
3,231,932
3,627,682

Cash and bank deposits

Cash at bank
Cash on hand
Deposits at call held with the Ministry
of Finance, Accountant-General’s Department
Fixed deposits with banks :
– Maturity of three months or less after year end

17

–
50,038
(50,038)
–
–
–
–

Total
$

6 Cash and bank deposits (cont’d)
Deposits with the Ministry of Finance, Accountant–General’s Department are non–interest bearing.
The fixed deposits have an average maturity of 2 months (2007 – 2 months) from the end of
the financial year with weighted average effective interest rate of 1.22% (2007 – 2.92%).
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, the year end cash and cash equivalents comprise
the following:

Cash at bank
Cash on hand
Deposits at call held with the
Ministry of Finance,
Accountant-General’s Department
Fixed deposits with banks
with maturity of three months or
less after year end

2008
$
314,405
50

2007
$
280,156
–

4,605,336

2,734,916

31,175,000
36,094,791

24,610,000
27,625,072

2008
$
314,405
50

2007
$
280,156
–

4,605,336

2,734,916

31,175,000
36,094,791

24,610,000
27,625,072

7 Deferred government capital grant
Notes

Deposits
Receivables

6

Capital work–
in–progress
$

At beginning of year
Addition during the year
Deferred capital grant amortised
At end of year

15

2008
$
2,107,694
2,652,429
4,760,123
(548,985)
4,211,138

2007
$
1,517,117
912,673
2,429,790
(322,096)
2,107,694

2008
$
1,688,359
3,471,476
7,530

2007
$
651,407
3,119,336
–

5,655,832
42,000
2,532,420
109,320
8,339,572
80,407
13,587,344

3,979,425
42,000
2,444,131
–
6,465,556
14,010
10,250,309

8 Payables
Notes
Operating payables
Accrued payables
Amount due to Ministry of Manpower (“MOM”)
Grants received in advance :
– Manpower Development Assistance Scheme
(“MDAS”)
– National Skills Recognition System (“NSRS”)
– Centre for Employability Skills (“CES”)
– From MOM – For HR Summit in Oct 08
Advanced billing/receipt

A
A
A
A
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4

Intangibles
Software
$

Cost
At 1 April 2006
Additions
Transfer from capital work-in-progress
At 31 March 2007
Additions
Transfer from SDF
At 31 March 2008
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2006
Amortisation for the year
At 31 March 2007
Transfer from SDF
Amortisation for the year
At 31 March 2008
Net book value
At 31 March 2008
At 31 March 2007
5

94,494
6,174
50,038
150,706
123,582
10,855
285,143

21,513
40,202
61,715
4,760
74,944
141,419

143,724
88,991

–
–
–
–
–
–

94,494
56,212
–
150,706
123,582
10,855
285,143

21,513
40,202
61,715
4,760
74,944
141,419

–
–

143,724
88,991

Other receivables
2008
$
395,750
747,059
1,142,809

2007
$
395,750
3,231,932
3,627,682

Cash and bank deposits

Cash at bank
Cash on hand
Deposits at call held with the Ministry
of Finance, Accountant-General’s Department
Fixed deposits with banks :
– Maturity of three months or less after year end

17

–
50,038
(50,038)
–
–
–
–

Total
$

6 Cash and bank deposits (cont’d)
Deposits with the Ministry of Finance, Accountant–General’s Department are non–interest bearing.
The fixed deposits have an average maturity of 2 months (2007 – 2 months) from the end of
the financial year with weighted average effective interest rate of 1.22% (2007 – 2.92%).
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, the year end cash and cash equivalents comprise
the following:

Cash at bank
Cash on hand
Deposits at call held with the
Ministry of Finance,
Accountant-General’s Department
Fixed deposits with banks
with maturity of three months or
less after year end

2008
$
314,405
50

2007
$
280,156
–

4,605,336

2,734,916

31,175,000
36,094,791

24,610,000
27,625,072

2008
$
314,405
50

2007
$
280,156
–

4,605,336

2,734,916

31,175,000
36,094,791

24,610,000
27,625,072

7 Deferred government capital grant
Notes

Deposits
Receivables

6

Capital work–
in–progress
$

At beginning of year
Addition during the year
Deferred capital grant amortised
At end of year

15

2008
$
2,107,694
2,652,429
4,760,123
(548,985)
4,211,138

2007
$
1,517,117
912,673
2,429,790
(322,096)
2,107,694

2008
$
1,688,359
3,471,476
7,530

2007
$
651,407
3,119,336
–

5,655,832
42,000
2,532,420
109,320
8,339,572
80,407
13,587,344

3,979,425
42,000
2,444,131
–
6,465,556
14,010
10,250,309

8 Payables
Notes
Operating payables
Accrued payables
Amount due to Ministry of Manpower (“MOM”)
Grants received in advance :
– Manpower Development Assistance Scheme
(“MDAS”)
– National Skills Recognition System (“NSRS”)
– Centre for Employability Skills (“CES”)
– From MOM – For HR Summit in Oct 08
Advanced billing/receipt

A
A
A
A
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8

Payables (cont’d)
Note A
2008

THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

Balance at the
beginning of year:
Grants receivable
Grants received in advance
Receipts during the year
Transfer to income and
expenditure statement
Transfer to deferred capital grants
Income/unutilised grant returned
to government
Grants receivable at end of year
Grants received in advance at end
of year

Note A
2007

Balance at the
beginning of year:
Grants receivable
Grants received in advance
Receipts during the year
Transfer to income and
expenditure statement
Transfer to deferred capital grants
Income/unutilised grant returned
to government
Grants receivable at end of year
Grants received in advance at end
of year

19

MDAS (a)
$

NSRS (b)
$

RESS (c)
$

CES (d)
$

JRP (e)
$

DCN (f)
$

LLEF
Admin fee (g)
$

Operating
grants
$

Total
$

–
3,979,425
3,474,513

–
42,000
–

–
–
–

–
2,444,131
261,661

–
–
42,458

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
51,114,516

–
6,465,556
54,893,148

(32,679)
–

–
–

–
–

(42,458)
–

–
–

–
–

(48,519,124)
(2,486,072)

(48,601,276)
(2,652,429)

(1,765,427)
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

5,655,832

42,000

–

2,532,420

–

–

–

109,320

8,339,572

MDAS (a)
$

NSRS (b)
$

RESS (c)
$

CES (d)
$

JRP (e)
$

DCN (f)
$

LLEF
Admin fee (g)
$

Operating
grants
$

Total
$

–
4,369,475
2,085,664

(48,028)
–
188,178

–
169,608
–

–
2,915,761
77,061

–
–
126,709

–
–
2,318,076

–
–
1,684,411

–
–
36,680,248

(48,028)
7,454,844
43,160,347

(1,057,910)
–

(98,150)
–

(126,709)
–

(2,318,076)
–

(1,684,411)
–

(36,385,576)
(294,672)

(42,163,991)
(408,710)

(1,417,804)
–
3,979,425

–
–
42,000

(58,506)
–
(111,102)
–
–

(7,015)
(166,357)

(434,653)
(114,038)

(1,765,427)
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

(1,528,906)
–

2,444,131

–

–

–

–

6,465,556
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Payables (cont’d)
Note A
2008

THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

Balance at the
beginning of year:
Grants receivable
Grants received in advance
Receipts during the year
Transfer to income and
expenditure statement
Transfer to deferred capital grants
Income/unutilised grant returned
to government
Grants receivable at end of year
Grants received in advance at end
of year

Note A
2007

Balance at the
beginning of year:
Grants receivable
Grants received in advance
Receipts during the year
Transfer to income and
expenditure statement
Transfer to deferred capital grants
Income/unutilised grant returned
to government
Grants receivable at end of year
Grants received in advance at end
of year

19

MDAS (a)
$

NSRS (b)
$

RESS (c)
$

CES (d)
$

JRP (e)
$

DCN (f)
$

LLEF
Admin fee (g)
$

Operating
grants
$

Total
$

–
3,979,425
3,474,513

–
42,000
–

–
–
–

–
2,444,131
261,661

–
–
42,458

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
51,114,516

–
6,465,556
54,893,148

(32,679)
–

–
–

–
–

(42,458)
–

–
–

–
–

(48,519,124)
(2,486,072)

(48,601,276)
(2,652,429)

(1,765,427)
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

5,655,832

42,000

–

2,532,420

–

–

–

109,320

8,339,572

MDAS (a)
$

NSRS (b)
$

RESS (c)
$

CES (d)
$

JRP (e)
$

DCN (f)
$

LLEF
Admin fee (g)
$

Operating
grants
$

Total
$

–
4,369,475
2,085,664

(48,028)
–
188,178

–
169,608
–

–
2,915,761
77,061

–
–
126,709

–
–
2,318,076

–
–
1,684,411

–
–
36,680,248

(48,028)
7,454,844
43,160,347

(1,057,910)
–

(98,150)
–

(126,709)
–

(2,318,076)
–

(1,684,411)
–

(36,385,576)
(294,672)

(42,163,991)
(408,710)

(1,417,804)
–
3,979,425

–
–
42,000

(58,506)
–
(111,102)
–
–

(7,015)
(166,357)

(434,653)
(114,038)

(1,765,427)
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

(1,528,906)
–

2,444,131

–

–

–

–

6,465,556
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8

Payables (cont’d)

Note A
(a) The Manpower Development Assistance Scheme (“MDAS”) was set up in February 2000
with a government commitment of $200 million over 5 years, from FY2000 to FY2004. It
is targeted at industry-wide initiatives aimed at enhancing workforce capabilities through
the Workforce Development Programmes, National Skills Recognition System (“NSRS”)
and Learning Infrastructure Development. A cashflow extension was further approved to
fund programmes committed before FY2004 but is expected to last till FY2008.
(b) The National Skills Recognition System (“NSRS”) is a national framework for establishing
work performance standards, identifying job competencies and certifying skills acquisition.
The programme is funded by MDAS up to FY2004. It has since been funded by LLEF from
FY2005.
(c) The Re-employment Support Scheme (“RESS”) is a scheme, funded by LLEF, that aims
at helping to sustain re-employment for Singaporean job seekers who are at risk of structural
unemployment.
(d) In November 1998, the Bukit Merah Skills Development Centre (“BMSDC”) was established
as part of the off-budget measure to offer full-time training facilities for workers and to
expand training resources for companies in Singapore. During the year, the centre is
repositioned into a Centre for Employability Skills (“CES”) which co-ordinates and delivers
courses, appraises and assesses workers’ and trainees’ skills and provides facilities for
organisations to operate training and administer Employability Skills System (“ESS”) and
Workforce Skills Qualification (“WSQ”). The balance amount from the former BMSDC was
transferred by the Institute of Education (“ITE”) to the Agency. The centre manager was
Nanyang Polytechnic in FY2005 and FY2006. In FY2007, WDA took over the assessment
function from NYP while appointing E2I as managing agent of the premises.
(e) The Job Re-creation Programme (“JRP”) received funding from LLEF. It was launched
in January 2005 to redesign jobs in ways that would enhance the productivity, improve
work conditions, job prospects and the image of the jobs to make them attractive for
Singaporeans. It is also to source and identify new job opportunities for Singaporeans
and to train and help Singaporeans adjust to these new or redesigned jobs.
(f) Distributed Career Link Network (“DCN”) established in June 2003, comprised job centres
operated by Community Development Council (“CDC”), self-help groups and NTUC. It is
funded by LLEF to provide employment and training assistance in areas such as career
coaching/counselling and training advice and subsidy to help workers upgrade their skills,
broaden their job options and maximise their chances at getting a job. With the economic
recovery, the DCN was rationalised for greater operational effectiveness and this resulted
in employment services being consolidated in the five CDCs which provided geographical
outreach to the job seekers as well as the NTUC. DCN’s operation was transferred to WDA
in 2007.
(g) The LLEF admin fee was approved by WDA’s board under LLEF to be paid to WDA as
administrative fee in FY2006 to support the resources required to manage and disburse
LLEF funds. A budget of $4.2 million was approved for this purpose.

21

9

Skills Development Fund

The Skills Development Fund (“the SDF”) was established in the Republic of Singapore on
1 October 1979 as a Government fund under the Skills Development Levy Act (Cap. 306). With
effect from 1 September 2003, the administration of the SDF was transferred from the Ministry
of Manpower (“MOM”) to the Agency.
The SDF is established for the following purposes:
(a) the promotion, development and upgrading of skills and expertise of persons preparing
to join the workforce, persons in the workforce and persons rejoining the workforce;
(b) the retraining of retrenched persons; and
(c) the provision of financial assistance by grants, loans or otherwise for the purpose of the
above-mentioned purposes.
The net assets of the SDF that is administered by the Agency as at 31 March 2008 are as follows:
2008
2007
$
$
Accumulated deficit at beginning of year
(72,720,921)
(108,114,504)
Income
Skills development levy
120,776,043
108,310,881
Less:
Expenditure
Disbursements
97,248,346
93,954,323
Less: Refunds
(5,421,237)
(692,047)
Depreciation
–
492,127
Other expenditure
(240,622)
5,484,477
91,586,487
99,238,880
Non–operating income and expenditure
Investment advisor expenses
–
(70,000)
Interest income
18,311,833
22,100,316
Gain on disposal of fixed assets
–
630
(Loss)/Gain on foreign exchange
–
(16)
18,311,833
22,030,930
Net surplus for the year before operating grant
47,501,389
31,102,931
Operating grant
–
4,290,652
Net surplus for the year after operating grant
47,501,389
35,393,583
Accumulated deficit at end of year
(25,219,532)
(72,720,921)
Capital account
871,138,696
871,138,696
845,919,164
798,417,775
Represented by:
Property, plant and equipment
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Receivables
Investments
Cash and cash equivalents
Payables

–
–
–
4,536,607
299,692,810
542,968,672
(1,278,925)
845,919,164

2,881,227
(2,569,936)
311,291
3,020,015
201,487,775
598,393,509
(4,794,815)
798,417,775

* The Agency, as a part of rationalisation,
has taken over assets, manpower and
administrative cost of SDF, so that
SDF can support more programmes
related to workforce development.
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8

Payables (cont’d)

Note A
(a) The Manpower Development Assistance Scheme (“MDAS”) was set up in February 2000
with a government commitment of $200 million over 5 years, from FY2000 to FY2004. It
is targeted at industry-wide initiatives aimed at enhancing workforce capabilities through
the Workforce Development Programmes, National Skills Recognition System (“NSRS”)
and Learning Infrastructure Development. A cashflow extension was further approved to
fund programmes committed before FY2004 but is expected to last till FY2008.
(b) The National Skills Recognition System (“NSRS”) is a national framework for establishing
work performance standards, identifying job competencies and certifying skills acquisition.
The programme is funded by MDAS up to FY2004. It has since been funded by LLEF from
FY2005.
(c) The Re-employment Support Scheme (“RESS”) is a scheme, funded by LLEF, that aims
at helping to sustain re-employment for Singaporean job seekers who are at risk of structural
unemployment.
(d) In November 1998, the Bukit Merah Skills Development Centre (“BMSDC”) was established
as part of the off-budget measure to offer full-time training facilities for workers and to
expand training resources for companies in Singapore. During the year, the centre is
repositioned into a Centre for Employability Skills (“CES”) which co-ordinates and delivers
courses, appraises and assesses workers’ and trainees’ skills and provides facilities for
organisations to operate training and administer Employability Skills System (“ESS”) and
Workforce Skills Qualification (“WSQ”). The balance amount from the former BMSDC was
transferred by the Institute of Education (“ITE”) to the Agency. The centre manager was
Nanyang Polytechnic in FY2005 and FY2006. In FY2007, WDA took over the assessment
function from NYP while appointing E2I as managing agent of the premises.
(e) The Job Re-creation Programme (“JRP”) received funding from LLEF. It was launched
in January 2005 to redesign jobs in ways that would enhance the productivity, improve
work conditions, job prospects and the image of the jobs to make them attractive for
Singaporeans. It is also to source and identify new job opportunities for Singaporeans
and to train and help Singaporeans adjust to these new or redesigned jobs.
(f) Distributed Career Link Network (“DCN”) established in June 2003, comprised job centres
operated by Community Development Council (“CDC”), self-help groups and NTUC. It is
funded by LLEF to provide employment and training assistance in areas such as career
coaching/counselling and training advice and subsidy to help workers upgrade their skills,
broaden their job options and maximise their chances at getting a job. With the economic
recovery, the DCN was rationalised for greater operational effectiveness and this resulted
in employment services being consolidated in the five CDCs which provided geographical
outreach to the job seekers as well as the NTUC. DCN’s operation was transferred to WDA
in 2007.
(g) The LLEF admin fee was approved by WDA’s board under LLEF to be paid to WDA as
administrative fee in FY2006 to support the resources required to manage and disburse
LLEF funds. A budget of $4.2 million was approved for this purpose.

21

9

Skills Development Fund

The Skills Development Fund (“the SDF”) was established in the Republic of Singapore on
1 October 1979 as a Government fund under the Skills Development Levy Act (Cap. 306). With
effect from 1 September 2003, the administration of the SDF was transferred from the Ministry
of Manpower (“MOM”) to the Agency.
The SDF is established for the following purposes:
(a) the promotion, development and upgrading of skills and expertise of persons preparing
to join the workforce, persons in the workforce and persons rejoining the workforce;
(b) the retraining of retrenched persons; and
(c) the provision of financial assistance by grants, loans or otherwise for the purpose of the
above-mentioned purposes.
The net assets of the SDF that is administered by the Agency as at 31 March 2008 are as follows:
2008
2007
$
$
Accumulated deficit at beginning of year
(72,720,921)
(108,114,504)
Income
Skills development levy
120,776,043
108,310,881
Less:
Expenditure
Disbursements
97,248,346
93,954,323
Less: Refunds
(5,421,237)
(692,047)
Depreciation
–
492,127
Other expenditure
(240,622)
5,484,477
91,586,487
99,238,880
Non–operating income and expenditure
Investment advisor expenses
–
(70,000)
Interest income
18,311,833
22,100,316
Gain on disposal of fixed assets
–
630
(Loss)/Gain on foreign exchange
–
(16)
18,311,833
22,030,930
Net surplus for the year before operating grant
47,501,389
31,102,931
Operating grant
–
4,290,652
Net surplus for the year after operating grant
47,501,389
35,393,583
Accumulated deficit at end of year
(25,219,532)
(72,720,921)
Capital account
871,138,696
871,138,696
845,919,164
798,417,775
Represented by:
Property, plant and equipment
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Receivables
Investments
Cash and cash equivalents
Payables

–
–
–
4,536,607
299,692,810
542,968,672
(1,278,925)
845,919,164

2,881,227
(2,569,936)
311,291
3,020,015
201,487,775
598,393,509
(4,794,815)
798,417,775

* The Agency, as a part of rationalisation,
has taken over assets, manpower and
administrative cost of SDF, so that
SDF can support more programmes
related to workforce development.
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10 Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund

11 Skills Redevelopment Programme

The Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund (“the LLEF”) is set up by the Singapore Government
under the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund Act, Cap.162A for the acquisition of skills and
expertise by persons and the development and upgrading of skills and expertise of persons
to enhance their employability; and the promotion of the acquisition, development and upgrading
of skills and expertise to enhance the employability of persons.

The Skills Redevelopment Programme (“the SRP”) is a national programme to help
re-develop the skills of our workers and enhance their employability through certifiable skills
training and upgrading. Under the SRP, companies can claim absentee payroll funding to defray
manpower costs incurred when they send their employees (who are Singapore Citizens or
Permanent Residents of Singapore) for approved training courses. The SRP was managed by
the National Trades Union Congress (“NTUC”) up to 31 December 2006. With effect from
1 January 2007, the administration of the SRP was transferred from NTUC to the Agency. The
programme is funded by MDAS.

The Agency has been appointed by MOM as the administrator of the LLEF to receive and
deploy the grant for programmes that are congruent with the objectives of the LLEF.
The net assets of the LLEF that is administered by the Agency as at 31 March 2008 are as follows:

Accumulated surplus at the beginning of the year
Income
Refund of unused grant from programme managers
Interest income
Less:
Expenditure
Grants disbursed
Marketing and promotion expenses
Administrative expenses
Add:
Grants received
(Deficit)/ Surplus for the year
Accumulated surplus at end of year
Represented by:
Cash and cash equivalents
Payables

2008
$
1,556,933

2007
$
860,506

1,860,714
7,225
1,867,939

1,228,489
10,329
1,238,818

62,091,615
5,261,426
30
67,353,071

58,520,447
3,802,973
27,970
62,351,390

65,266,000
(219,132)
1,337,801

61,808,999
696,427
1,556,933

1,954,054
(616,253)
1,337,801

1,975,931
(418,998)
1,556,933

The net assets of the SRP that is administered by the Agency as at 31 March 2008 are as follows:

Accumulated surplus at the beginning of the period
Income
Less:
Expenditure
Grants disbursed
Administrative expenses
Add:
Grants received
(Deficit)/Surplus for the period
Accumulated surplus at end of the period
Represented by:
Receivable
Cash and cash equivalents
Payables

2007
$
–
–
–

15,969,838
79,494
16,049,332

5,840,125
574
5,840,699

–
(16,049,332)
28,089,010

49,979,041
44,138,342
44,138,342

4,182,953
24,072,543
(166,486)
28,089,010

24,089,782
20,187,519
(138,959)
44,138,342

2008
$
25,255,216
3,107,991
2,307,535
30,670,742

2007
$
19,190,990
2,147,871
1,378,005
22,716,866

12 Employee benefit costs

The financial statements of the LLEF are prepared by MOM and audited by another firm of
auditors.
* The Agency, as a part of rationalisation, has taken over assets, manpower and administrative cost of LLEF, so
that LLEF can support more programmes related to workforce development.

2008
$
44,138,342
–
–

Wages and salaries
Employer’s contribution to Central Provident Fund
Staff training and benefits

Included in the employee benefit costs is key management’s remuneration as follows:

Short–term employment benefits

2008
$

2007
$

3,380,084

3,005,798

Key management refers to employees designated as Directors and above who have the authority
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Agency.
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10 Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund

11 Skills Redevelopment Programme

The Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund (“the LLEF”) is set up by the Singapore Government
under the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund Act, Cap.162A for the acquisition of skills and
expertise by persons and the development and upgrading of skills and expertise of persons
to enhance their employability; and the promotion of the acquisition, development and upgrading
of skills and expertise to enhance the employability of persons.

The Skills Redevelopment Programme (“the SRP”) is a national programme to help
re-develop the skills of our workers and enhance their employability through certifiable skills
training and upgrading. Under the SRP, companies can claim absentee payroll funding to defray
manpower costs incurred when they send their employees (who are Singapore Citizens or
Permanent Residents of Singapore) for approved training courses. The SRP was managed by
the National Trades Union Congress (“NTUC”) up to 31 December 2006. With effect from
1 January 2007, the administration of the SRP was transferred from NTUC to the Agency. The
programme is funded by MDAS.

The Agency has been appointed by MOM as the administrator of the LLEF to receive and
deploy the grant for programmes that are congruent with the objectives of the LLEF.
The net assets of the LLEF that is administered by the Agency as at 31 March 2008 are as follows:

Accumulated surplus at the beginning of the year
Income
Refund of unused grant from programme managers
Interest income
Less:
Expenditure
Grants disbursed
Marketing and promotion expenses
Administrative expenses
Add:
Grants received
(Deficit)/ Surplus for the year
Accumulated surplus at end of year
Represented by:
Cash and cash equivalents
Payables

2008
$
1,556,933

2007
$
860,506

1,860,714
7,225
1,867,939

1,228,489
10,329
1,238,818

62,091,615
5,261,426
30
67,353,071

58,520,447
3,802,973
27,970
62,351,390

65,266,000
(219,132)
1,337,801

61,808,999
696,427
1,556,933

1,954,054
(616,253)
1,337,801

1,975,931
(418,998)
1,556,933

The net assets of the SRP that is administered by the Agency as at 31 March 2008 are as follows:

Accumulated surplus at the beginning of the period
Income
Less:
Expenditure
Grants disbursed
Administrative expenses
Add:
Grants received
(Deficit)/Surplus for the period
Accumulated surplus at end of the period
Represented by:
Receivable
Cash and cash equivalents
Payables

2007
$
–
–
–

15,969,838
79,494
16,049,332

5,840,125
574
5,840,699

–
(16,049,332)
28,089,010

49,979,041
44,138,342
44,138,342

4,182,953
24,072,543
(166,486)
28,089,010

24,089,782
20,187,519
(138,959)
44,138,342

2008
$
25,255,216
3,107,991
2,307,535
30,670,742

2007
$
19,190,990
2,147,871
1,378,005
22,716,866

12 Employee benefit costs

The financial statements of the LLEF are prepared by MOM and audited by another firm of
auditors.
* The Agency, as a part of rationalisation, has taken over assets, manpower and administrative cost of LLEF, so
that LLEF can support more programmes related to workforce development.

2008
$
44,138,342
–
–

Wages and salaries
Employer’s contribution to Central Provident Fund
Staff training and benefits

Included in the employee benefit costs is key management’s remuneration as follows:

Short–term employment benefits

2008
$

2007
$

3,380,084

3,005,798

Key management refers to employees designated as Directors and above who have the authority
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Agency.
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13 Excess of expenditure over income before grants

16 Contribution to Consolidated Fund

Excess of expenditure over income before grants has been arrived after charging/(crediting):

The Agency is exempted from Singapore Income Tax under Section 13(1)(e) of the Income Tax Act.

2008
Notes
Depreciation and amortization
3,4
Board members’ allowance
Foreign exchange loss/(gain)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Interest income
– bank
– fixed deposits
– others

2007

$
1,185,413
35,365
(2,223)
4,657

$
882,080
57,054
37
5,399

(17,183)
(475,789)
(3,193)

(36,213)
(436,219)
–

14 Exceptional Item
The Agency has taken over the assessment function of the Centre for Employability Skills (CES)
from Nanyang Polytechnic (NYP) with effect from 30 June 2007. Net asset of $524,118
comprising $892,188 in assets and $368,070 in liabilities as at 30 June 2007 in the books of
NYP has been transferred to the Agency. No consideration was paid and accordingly a gain
of $524,118 was recognised in the income and expenditure statement.

The contribution to the Consolidated Fund is required under Section 3(a) of the Statutory
Corporations (Contributions to Consolidated Fund) Act (Cap. 319A). The contribution is pegged
at the prevailing statutory corporate income tax rate of 18% (2007: 20%).

Current year

2008

2007

$
719,054

$
1,315,036

17 Operating lease income commitments
The future aggregate minimum lease revenue under non-cancellable operating leases contracted
for at the reporting date but not recognised as revenue, are as follows:

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years

2008

2007

$
1,226,477
–

$
–
–

18 Operating lease commitments
15 Grants
2008

2007

$

$

A

32,679

1,057,910

A

–

98,150

A
A
A

–
7,015
42,458

58,506
434,653
126,709

A

–

2,318,076

A

–
48,519,124
48,601,276
548,985
49,150,261

1,684,411
36,385,576
42,163,991
322,096
42,486,087

Notes
Government grants :
– Manpower Development
Assistance Scheme (“MDAS”)
– National Skills Recognition System
(“NSRS”)
– Re-employment Support Scheme
(“RESS”)
– Centre for Employability Skills (“CES”)
– Job Re–creation Programme (“JRP”)
– Distributed CareerLink Network
(“DCN”)
– Lifelong Learning Endowment
Fund–Admin Fee (“LLEF”)
– Operating grants
Deferred government capital grant amortised

7

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases contracted
for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, are as follows:
2008
$
1,357,111
256,211

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years

2007
$
1,106,000
1,214,230

The lease on the Agency’s office premises on which rental is payable will expire in May 2009,
subject to an option to renew, and the current rent payable on the lease is $98,660 per month
which is subject to revision on renewal for two years.
19 Capital commitments
Capital commitments not provided for in the financial statements are as follows:

Amount approved but not contracted for

2008

2007

$

$

1,326,124

1,637,839

20 Financial risk management objectives and policies
The main risks arising from the Agency’s financial instruments are foreign currency risk, interest
rate risk, credit risk and price risk which are summarised below:
The Agency does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes or to
hedge against fluctuations, if any, in interest rates and foreign exchange.
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13 Excess of expenditure over income before grants

16 Contribution to Consolidated Fund

Excess of expenditure over income before grants has been arrived after charging/(crediting):

The Agency is exempted from Singapore Income Tax under Section 13(1)(e) of the Income Tax Act.

2008
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Depreciation and amortization
3,4
Board members’ allowance
Foreign exchange loss/(gain)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Interest income
– bank
– fixed deposits
– others
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(2,223)
4,657

$
882,080
57,054
37
5,399

(17,183)
(475,789)
(3,193)

(36,213)
(436,219)
–

14 Exceptional Item
The Agency has taken over the assessment function of the Centre for Employability Skills (CES)
from Nanyang Polytechnic (NYP) with effect from 30 June 2007. Net asset of $524,118
comprising $892,188 in assets and $368,070 in liabilities as at 30 June 2007 in the books of
NYP has been transferred to the Agency. No consideration was paid and accordingly a gain
of $524,118 was recognised in the income and expenditure statement.

The contribution to the Consolidated Fund is required under Section 3(a) of the Statutory
Corporations (Contributions to Consolidated Fund) Act (Cap. 319A). The contribution is pegged
at the prevailing statutory corporate income tax rate of 18% (2007: 20%).

Current year

2008

2007

$
719,054

$
1,315,036

17 Operating lease income commitments
The future aggregate minimum lease revenue under non-cancellable operating leases contracted
for at the reporting date but not recognised as revenue, are as follows:

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
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2007

$
1,226,477
–

$
–
–

18 Operating lease commitments
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98,150
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A
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2,318,076
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–
48,519,124
48,601,276
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49,150,261

1,684,411
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Notes
Government grants :
– Manpower Development
Assistance Scheme (“MDAS”)
– National Skills Recognition System
(“NSRS”)
– Re-employment Support Scheme
(“RESS”)
– Centre for Employability Skills (“CES”)
– Job Re–creation Programme (“JRP”)
– Distributed CareerLink Network
(“DCN”)
– Lifelong Learning Endowment
Fund–Admin Fee (“LLEF”)
– Operating grants
Deferred government capital grant amortised
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The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases contracted
for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, are as follows:
2008
$
1,357,111
256,211

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years

2007
$
1,106,000
1,214,230

The lease on the Agency’s office premises on which rental is payable will expire in May 2009,
subject to an option to renew, and the current rent payable on the lease is $98,660 per month
which is subject to revision on renewal for two years.
19 Capital commitments
Capital commitments not provided for in the financial statements are as follows:

Amount approved but not contracted for

2008

2007

$

$

1,326,124

1,637,839

20 Financial risk management objectives and policies
The main risks arising from the Agency’s financial instruments are foreign currency risk, interest
rate risk, credit risk and price risk which are summarised below:
The Agency does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes or to
hedge against fluctuations, if any, in interest rates and foreign exchange.
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20 Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)
20.1 Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes
in foreign exchange rates.
The Agency’s exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal as majority of its transactions
are in Singapore dollars.
20.2 Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk
is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates.
The Agency places cash balances with reputable financial institutions or government bodies.
The Agency’s exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to the Agency’s fixed/shortterm bank deposits. The Agency manages its interest rate risk by placing such balances
on varying maturities and interest rate terms.
20.3 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an
obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss.
The Agency has no significant concentration of credit risk with any single counterparty
as it operates substantially on cash term.
20.4 Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes
in market prices whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual
security or its issuer or factors affecting all securities traded in the market.
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21 Financial instruments
Fair values
The carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one
year is assumed to approximate their fair values.
22 Comparatives
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to current year’s presentation.

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Balance as
restated
2007
$
3,918,005
88,991

Balance as
previously reported
2007
$
4,006,996
–

Prior to 1 April 2007, the Agency’s policy was to classify the computer hardware and software as property, plant
and equipment. From 1 April 2007, the Agency has separately accounted for stand alone computer application
system as intangible assets. This is to better reflect the substance and economic reality of the Agency’s activities.
Software development costs on stand alone computer application systems are accounted for as intangible assets.
The comparative figures are restated accordingly.
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20 Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)
20.1 Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes
in foreign exchange rates.
The Agency’s exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal as majority of its transactions
are in Singapore dollars.
20.2 Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk
is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates.
The Agency places cash balances with reputable financial institutions or government bodies.
The Agency’s exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to the Agency’s fixed/shortterm bank deposits. The Agency manages its interest rate risk by placing such balances
on varying maturities and interest rate terms.
20.3 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an
obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss.
The Agency has no significant concentration of credit risk with any single counterparty
as it operates substantially on cash term.
20.4 Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes
in market prices whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual
security or its issuer or factors affecting all securities traded in the market.
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system as intangible assets. This is to better reflect the substance and economic reality of the Agency’s activities.
Software development costs on stand alone computer application systems are accounted for as intangible assets.
The comparative figures are restated accordingly.
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AUDITOR’S
REPORT

We have been engaged by the Auditor-General to audit the accompanying financial statements
of Skill Development Fund (“SDF”), set out on pages 3 to 18. The financial statements comprise
the balance sheet as at 31 March 2008, the income and expenditure statement, statement of
changes in capital and accumulated deficit and cash flow statement of the SDF for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. The
SDF is administered by the Singapore Workforce Development Agency (“WDA”).
WDA’s management responsibility for the financial statements
WDA’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with the provisions of the Skills Development Levy Act, Cap.306 (the
“Act”) and Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes:
a) devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide
a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use
or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as
necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance
sheets and to maintain accountability of assets;

AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

Opinion
In our opinion:
(a) the financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act
and the Statutory Board Financial Reporting standards so as to give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the SDF as at 31 March 2008 and the results, changes in capital and
accumulated deficit and cash flows of the SDF for the financial year ended on that date;
and
(b) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the SDF have been
properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.
During the course of our audit, nothing came to our notice that caused us to believe that the
receipts, expenditure, investment of monies, acquisitions and disposals of assets by the SDF
during the financial year have not been in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

(b) selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and
(c) making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the WDA’s management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

Foo Kon Tan Grant Thornton
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore, 27 June 2008

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinion.
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BALANCE SHEET

BALANCE
SHEET

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT

Notes
Assets
Non-Current
Property, plant and equipment
Held-to-maturity investments
Current
Held-to-maturity investments
Refund of assistance previously
disbursed and underpaid levy
receivable
Levy collection due from CPF Board
Other receivables
Prepayments
Cash and bank deposits
Liabilities
Current
Assistance committed and payable
and overpaid levy refundable
Trade and other payables
Net current assets
Net assets
Represented by:
Capital account
Accumulated deficit

31 March 2008
$

31 March 2007
$

3
4

–
236,148,123
236,148,123

311,291
201,487,775
201,799,066

4

63,544,687

–

5

332,017
776,584
3,428,006
–
542,968,672
611,049,966

473,099
351,874
2,186,865
8,177
598,393,509
601,413,524

1,035,089
243,836
1,278,925
609,771,041
845,919,164

1,079,476
3,715,339
4,794,815
596,618,709
798,417,775

871,138,696
(25,219,532)
845,919,164

871,138,696
(72,720,921)
798,417,775

6
7

8

Ong Ye Kung

Foo Yong Fang

Chief Executive
Singapore Workforce Development Agency

Deputy Director
Incentives & Finance

Notes
Operating income
Skills development levy from:
– Private sector
– Statutory boards
– Government
– Other income
Operating expenditure
Disbursements
Less: Refunds
Agency fee paid to CPF Board
Impairment for doubtful debts
Impairment for doubtful debts
written back
Audit fee
Bad debts written off
CPF contributions
Depreciation
General administrative expenses
Professional fee
Rental expense
Salaries and allowances
Staff development
Staff welfare
Operating surplus

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.

Year ended
31 March 2007
$

117,673,439
1,419,346
1,627,770
55,488
120,776,043

104,694,373
1,640,940
1,966,059
9,509
108,310,881

9
9
9

10

3

11

Non-operating income/(expenditure)
Investment advisor expenses
Interest income from:
– bank deposits
– investment securities bonds
– others
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
(Loss)/gain on foreign exchange

Net surplus before grants
Grants
Operating grants from Government
Surplus for the year

03

Year ended
31 March 2008
$

12

97,248,346
(5,421,237)
–
–

93,954,323
(692,047)
380,935
(50,062)

(7,808)
–
7,808
(8,273)
–
–
–
–
(232,344)
–
(5)
91,586,487
29,189,556

–
16,865
17,180
405,840
492,127
780,667
311,622
204,731
3,306,690
59,348
50,661
99,238,880
9,072,001

–

(70,000)

13,027,072
5,284,761
–
–
–
18,311,833

16,094,429
6,004,979
908
630
(16)
22,030,930

47,501,389

31,102,931

–
47,501,389

4,290,652
35,393,583

INCOME
AND
EXPENDITURE
STATEMENT

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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INCOME
AND
EXPENDITURE
STATEMENT

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CAPITAL AND ACCUMULATED DEFICIT

STATEMENT
OF CHANGES
IN CAPITAL
AND
ACCUMULATED
DEFICIT

Balance at 1 April 2006
Net surplus for the year
Balance at 1 April 2007
Net surplus for the year
Balance at 31 March 2008

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Capital
account
$
871,138,696
–
871,138,696
–
871,138,696

Accumulated
deficit
$
(108,114,504)
35,393,583
(72,720,921)
47,501,389
(25,219,532)

Total
$
763,024,192
35,393,583
798,417,775
47,501,389
845,919,164

(a) The capital account represents the Government’s capital contribution for the establishment
of the Skills Development Fund.

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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Notes
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net surplus before grants
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment
Gain on disposals of property, plant
and equipment
Amortisation of bond premium
Investment income
Surplus for the year before working
capital changes
(Increase)/decrease in levy collection
due from CPF Board
Decrease/(increase) in refund of
assistance previously disbursed
and underpaid levy receivable
Decrease/(increase) in other receivables
and prepayments
Decrease in assistance committed and payable
Increase/(decrease) in other creditors
and accrued expenses
Net cash generated from operating activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Acquisition of property, plant
and equipment
Purchase of capital guaranteed
investment
Fixed deposits
Proceeds from maturity of bonds
Interest received
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activity
Grants received from Government
Unutilised grants transferred to
Workforce Development Agency
Net cash generated from
financing activity
Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents
at end of year
7

Year ended
31 March 2008
$

Year ended
31 March 2007
$

47,501,389

31,102,931

–

492,127

–
1,794,965
(20,106,798)

(630)
2,091,836
(24,192,152)

29,189,556

9,494,112

(424,710)

121,344

141,082

(309,886)

16,950
(44,387)

(15,628)
(460,233)

(3,471,503)
25,406,988
311,291

CASH FLOW
STATEMENT

3,055,936
11,885,645
(31,557)

(100,000,000)
470,000,000
–
18,856,884

–
(235,500,000)
40,000,000
29,672,997

–
389,168,175

630
(165,857,930)

–

7,330,000

–

(3,039,348)

–

4,290,652

414,575,163

(149,681,633)

128,393,509

278,075,142

542,968,672

128,393,509

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1

General information

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

The Skills Development Fund (the “SDF”) was established in the Republic of Singapore on
1 October 1979 as a Government fund under the Skills Development Levy Act (Chapter 306).
With effect from 1 September 2003, the administration of the SDF was transferred from the
Ministry of Manpower (“MOM”) to the Singapore Workforce Development Agency (“WDA”).

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. Management estimates the useful lives of these property, plant and equipment to
be within 3 to 8 years. The carrying amount of SDF’s property, plant and equipment at
31 March 2008 was $Nil (2007- $311,291).

The financial statements of the SDF for the year ended 31 March 2008 were authorised for
issue by the WDA Board on 25 June 2008.

2(c) Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2007

The SDF is established for the following purposes:
(a) the promotion, development and upgrading of skills and expertise of persons preparing
to join the workforce, persons in the workforce and persons rejoining the workforce;

On 1 April 2007, the Agency adopted the new or revised SB-FRS and INT SB-FRS that are
mandatory for application on their respective dates. This includes the following SB-FRS and
INT SB-FRS which are relevant to the SDF as a single entity:

(b) the retraining of retrenched persons; and
(c) the provision of financial assistance by grants, loans or otherwise for the purpose of the
above-mentioned purposes.
The SDF which is administered by WDA is exempted from income tax under Section 13(1)(e)
of the Income Tax Act.
The registered office and principal place of operations of the SDF is located at 1 Marina Boulevard
#16-01, One Marina Boulevard, Singapore 018989.

SB-FRS 32
SB-FRS 40
INT SB-FRS 108
INT SB-FRS 109
INT SB-FRS 110
INT SB-FRS 111

Effective date
(Annual periods
beginning on or after)
Financial Instruments: Presentation
01.01.2007
Investment Property
01.01.2007
Scope of SB-FRS 102, Share-based Payment
01.05.2006
Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
01.06.2006
Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment
01.11.2006
Group and Treasury Share Transactions
01.03.2007

2(a) Effect of changes in legislation
Pursuant to the Accounting Standards Act 2007 which came into effect on 1 November 2007,
statutory boards are required to prepare and present their financial statements in compliance
with the accounting standards established by the Accountant-General, known as the Statutory
Board Financial Reporting Standards (“SB-FRS”). Hence, these financial statements, including
the comparative figures, have been prepared in accordance with SB-FRS. The SB-FRS will
have the same effective dates as those previously adopted under Singapore Financial Report
Standards.

The adoption of the above SB-FRS and INT SB-FRS did not result in any significant changes
to SDF’s accounting policies nor any significant impact on these financial statements.

Previously, SDF prepared its financial statements in accordance with Singapore Financial
Reporting Standards. The adoption of SB-FRS did not have material impact on the accounting
policies of SDF and figures presented in the financial statements for the financial year ended
31 March 2008, other than the exemption from disclosure of transactions and balances with
other state-controlled entities previously required under Singapore Financial Reporting Standards
24 - Related Party Disclosure.
2(b) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost convention, and in accordance
with the provisions of the Skills Development Levy Act, Cap. 306 and SB-FRS.
Significant accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with the FRS requires the use of
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expenditure
during the financial year. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge
of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates.
The critical accounting estimates and assumptions used and areas involving a high degree of
judgements are described below:
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2(d) FRS and INT FRS issued but not yet effective

2(e) Summary of significant accounting policies

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following SB-FRS and INT
SB-FRS were issued but not effective:

Income recognition

THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

SB-FRS 1
SB-FRS 2
SB-FRS 7
SB-FRS 8
SB-FRS11
SB-FRS 16
SB-FRS 19
SB-FRS 23
SB-FRS 27
SB-FRS 33
SB-FRS 34
SB-FRS 36
SB-FRS 38
SB-FRS 101
SB-FRS 105
SB-FRS 106
SB-FRS 108
INT SB-FRS 29
INT SB-FRS 101
INT SB-FRS 104
INT SB-FRS 112

Amendment to SB-FRS 1 (revised)
Presentation of Financial Statements
(Capital Disclosures)
Inventories
Cash Flow Statements
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and errors
Construction Contracts
Property, Plant and Equipment
Employee Benefits
Borrowing Costs
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
Earnings per Share
Interim Financial Reporting
Impairment of Assets
Intangible Assets
Implementation Guidance
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations
Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral
Resources
Operating Segments
Amendments to Disclosure Service Concession Arrangements
Changes in Existing Decommissioning,
Restoration and Similar Liabilities
Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease
Service Concession Arrangements
Amendments to Service Concession
Arrangements

Effective date
(Annual periods
beginning on or after)
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2009
01.01.2008
01.01.2009
01.01.2008
01.01.2009

SDF expects that the adoption of the above pronouncements will not have a significant impact
on the financial statements in the period of initial application.
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Income is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the SDF and the income can be reliably measured.
Income from Skills Development Levy is recognised on an accrual basis.
Interest income from fixed deposit is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective
interest method.
Grants
Government grants consisting of operating grants to meet part of the current year’s operating
expenditure are recognised as income in the same year.
Grants are accounted for on an accrual basis.
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, if any. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method to write off the cost of
these assets over their expected useful lives as follows:
Furniture and fittings
Office equipment
Computers

8 years
5 years
3–5 years

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items. Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as part
of the cost of property, plant and equipment if the obligation for dismantlement, removal or
restoration is incurred as a consequence of acquiring or using the asset. Cost may also include
transfers from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment, if any.
For acquisitions and disposals during the financial year, depreciation is provided from the month
of acquisition and to the month before disposal respectively.
Fully depreciated assets are retained in the books of accounts until they are no longer in use.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amounts
and are included in operating surplus.
Financial assets
Financial assets, other than cash and hedging instruments, can be divided into the following
categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments,
loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. Financial assets are assigned to
the different categories by management on initial recognition, depending on the purpose for
which the investments were acquired. The designation of financial assets is re-evaluated and
classification may be changed at the reporting date with the exception that the designation of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is not revocable.
All financial assets, less those recognised using hedging accounting, are recognised on their
settlement date. Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which are
recognised at fair value.
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2(d) FRS and INT FRS issued but not yet effective

2(e) Summary of significant accounting policies

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following SB-FRS and INT
SB-FRS were issued but not effective:

Income recognition

THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008
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Financial assets (cont’d)

Financial assets (cont’d)

Derecognition of financial instruments occurs when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments expire or are transferred and substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership
have been transferred. An assessment for impairment is undertaken at least at each balance
sheet date whether or not there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired.

Cash and cash equivalents

Non-compounding interest and other cash flows resulting from holding financial assets are
recognised in profit or loss when received, regardless of how the related carrying amount of
financial assets is measured.
•

Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and a fixed date of maturity that the SDF has the positive intent and ability to
hold to maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium in acquisition.
Amortisation is calculated according to FRS No. 39, Effective Interest method to write off
any premium or discount on acquisition of bonds over the period from acquisition to
their maturity.

•

•

11

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, bank deposits with a short maturity of three
months or less from the end of the financial year and deposits held at call with a central
government agency.
Financial liabilities
The SDF’s financial liabilities include grant approved for disbursement and other payables.
Financial liabilities are recognised when SDF becomes a party to the contractual agreements
of the instrument. All interest-related charges are recognised as an expense in “finance costs”
in the income and expenditure statement.
Payables are initially carried at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the
future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the SDF. Subsequently, payables
are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
Operating leases
Leases of assets in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained
by the lessor are classified as operating leases.

In addition, if there is objective evidence that the investment has been impaired, the financial
asset is measured at the present value of estimated cash flows. Any changes to the carrying
amount of the investment are recognised in the income and expenditure statement. Any
reversal shall not result in a carrying amount that exceeds what the amortised cost would
have been had any impairment loss not been recognised at the date the impairment is
reversed. Any reversal is recognised in the income and expenditure statement.

Rentals on operating leases are charged to income and expenditure statement on a straightline basis over the lease term. Lease incentives, if any, are recognised as an integral part of the
net consideration agreed for the use of the leased asset. Penalty payments on early termination,
if any, are recognised in the income and expenditure statement when incurred.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. They arise when the SDF provides money, goods
or services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the receivables. They are included
in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date.
These are classified as non-current assets.

Provisions are recognised when the SDF has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of
the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the
current best estimates.

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment. Any change in their value is recognised in
income and expenditure statement. Any reversal shall not result in a carrying amount that
exceeds what the amortised cost would have been had any impairment loss not been
recognised at the date the impairment is reversed. Any reversal is recognised in the income
and expenditure statement.

Contribution to Central Provident Fund

Receivables are provided against when objective evidence is received that the SDF will not
be able to collect all amounts due to it in accordance with the original terms of the receivables.
The amount of the write-down is determined as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows.

Employee leave entitlements

Provisions

Employee benefits
The SDF contributes to the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”), a defined contribution plan regulated
and managed by the Government of Singapore, which applies to the majority of the employees.
The SDF’s contributions to CPF are charged to the income and expenditure statement in the
period to which the contributions relate.
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. Provision
is made for the estimated liability for unconsumed leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the balance sheet date.

Determination of fair value
The fair values of quoted financial assets are based on current bid prices. If the market for
a financial asset is not active, the SDF establishes fair value by using valuation techniques.
These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments
that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing models.
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Impairment of assets

Conversion of foreign currencies

The carrying amounts of the SDF’s assets subject to impairment are reviewed at each balance
sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication
exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into Singapore dollars at rates
of exchange closely approximating those ruling at balance sheet date. Transactions in foreign
currencies are converted at rates closely approximating those ruling at transaction dates. Exchange
differences arising from such transactions are recorded in the income and expenditure statement
in the period in which they arise.

If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, then the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs will be identified.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). As a result, some assets
are tested individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level.
All individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair
value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell and value in use, based on an internal
discounted cash flow evaluation.
Any impairment loss is charged to the income and expenditure statement unless it reverses a
previous revaluation in which case it is charged to equity.
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount or when there is an indication that the impairment loss recognised for
the asset no longer exists or decreases.

Currency translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equity investments held at fair
value through profit or loss, are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Currency translation
differences on non-monetary items, such as equity investments classified as available-for sale
financial assets, are included in the fair value reserve within equity.
However, where a foreign currency transaction is to be settled at a contracted rate or is covered
by a related or matching forward contract, the rate of exchange specified in the contract will be
used and any corresponding monetary assets or liabilities will not be retranslated.
Financial instruments
Financial instruments carried on the balance sheet include cash and cash equivalents, financial
assets and financial liabilities. The particular recognition methods adopted are disclosed in the
individual policy statements associated with each item.
Disclosures on financial risk management objectives and policies are provided in Note 14.
3

Property, plant and equipment

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined if no impairment loss had been
recognised.
A reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is credited directly to equity under the
heading revaluation surplus. However, to the extent that an impairment loss on the same
revalued asset was previously recognised as an expense in the income and expenditure
statement, a reversal of that impairment loss is recognised as income in the income and
expenditure statement.
Functional currency
Items included in the financial statements of the SDF are measured using the currency that
best reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to
the SDF (“the functional currency”). The financial statements of the SDF are presented in
Singapore dollars, which is also the functional currency of the SDF.

13

Office furniture
and equipment
$

Computer
$

Total
$

Cost
At 1 April 2006
Additions
Disposals
At 31 March 2007
Transfers
At 31 March 2008

36,098
–
–
36,098
(36,098)
–

2,852,088
31,557
(38,516)
2,845,129
(2,845,129)
–

2,888,186
31,557
(38,516)
2,881,227
(2,881,227)
–

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2006
Depreciation for the year
Disposals
At 31 March 2007
Transfers
At 31 March 2008

21,658
3,348
–
25,006
(25,006)
–

2,094,667
488,779
(38,516)
2,544,930
(2,544,930)
–

2,116,325
492,127
(38,516)
2,569,936
(2,569,936)
–

Net book value
At 31 March 2008
At 31 March 2007

–
11,092

–
300,199

–
311,291
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Held-to-maturity investments

Capital guaranteed investment*
Quoted government bonds, at cost adjusted
for amortisation of premium and discount
Quoted corporate bond
Less: Due after one year
Due within one year

7
2008
$
100,000,000

2007
$
–

174,692,810
25,000,000
299,692,810
236,148,123
63,544,687

176,487,775
25,000,000
201,487,775
201,487,775
–

The fair values for the capital protected investment and bonds were as follows:
Capital guaranteed investment
Quoted government bonds
Quoted corporate bond

100,000,000
179,502,100
25,319,500
304,821,600

–
176,876,300
24,709,000
201,585,300

* An agreement was entered with Fullerton Fund Management in July 2007 to manage the 100% capital protected
investment for WDA for a period of five years. The investment objective is to achieve consistent long-term capital
appreciation in the value of its assets by diversifying into various investments. The estimated return is targeted
at 5 to 6% p.a..

Cash and bank deposits

Cash and bank deposits comprise the following balance sheet amounts:

Cash and bank balances
Fixed deposits:
Maturity of three months or less after year end
Maturity of more than three months after year end

Amortisation of bond premium amounting to $1,794,965 (2007 - $2,091,836) was charged to
income and expenditure statement during the year.
5

Refund of assistance previously disbursed and underpaid levy receivable
2008
$

Refund of assistance previously
disbursed and underpaid levy receivable
Less: Provision for impairment of receivables

6

480,907
(7,808)
473,099

538,600,000
–
542,968,672

124,900,000
470,000,000
598,393,509

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, the year end cash and cash equivalents comprise
the following:

Cash and bank balances
Fixed deposits with maturity of three
months or less after year end

8

2008
$
4,368,672

2007
$
3,493,509

538,600,000
542,968,672

124,900,000
128,393,509

2008
$
–
243,836
–
243,836

2007
$
56,256
3,099,602
559,481
3,715,339

Trade and other payables

Trade payables
Other payables
Accrued expenses

Included in other payables is an amount of $207,172 (2007 - $3,066,917) due to Singapore
Workforce Development Agency.
9

Skills development levy

The levy is based on 1% of the monthly remuneration or $2, whichever is greater, for employees
earning $2,000 or less per month.

Other receivables

Interest receivable
Others

15

332,017
–
332,017

2007
$

2007
$
3,493,509

The fixed deposits with financial institutions mature on varying dates within 3 months (2007 4 months) from the financial year end. The weighted average effective interest rate of these
deposits is 2.29 % (2007 - 2.89%) per annum.

The fair values of bonds are determined by reference to the quoted prices on the buying rates
of Singapore Government Securities bond.
The weighted average effective interest rate of the bonds at balance sheet date is 2.57% (2007
- 2.57%) per annum and have maturity dates ranging from January 2009 to July 2011.

2008
$
4,368,672

2008
$
3,428,006
–
3,428,006

2007
$
2,178,092
8,773
2,186,865

10 Agency fee paid to CPF Board
The fees were paid to the Central Provident Fund (“CPF Board”) for services rendered in the
collection of skills development levy from employers in the private sector and statutory boards.
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Held-to-maturity investments

Capital guaranteed investment*
Quoted government bonds, at cost adjusted
for amortisation of premium and discount
Quoted corporate bond
Less: Due after one year
Due within one year

7
2008
$
100,000,000

2007
$
–

174,692,810
25,000,000
299,692,810
236,148,123
63,544,687

176,487,775
25,000,000
201,487,775
201,487,775
–

The fair values for the capital protected investment and bonds were as follows:
Capital guaranteed investment
Quoted government bonds
Quoted corporate bond

100,000,000
179,502,100
25,319,500
304,821,600

–
176,876,300
24,709,000
201,585,300

* An agreement was entered with Fullerton Fund Management in July 2007 to manage the 100% capital protected
investment for WDA for a period of five years. The investment objective is to achieve consistent long-term capital
appreciation in the value of its assets by diversifying into various investments. The estimated return is targeted
at 5 to 6% p.a..

Cash and bank deposits

Cash and bank deposits comprise the following balance sheet amounts:

Cash and bank balances
Fixed deposits:
Maturity of three months or less after year end
Maturity of more than three months after year end

Amortisation of bond premium amounting to $1,794,965 (2007 - $2,091,836) was charged to
income and expenditure statement during the year.
5

Refund of assistance previously disbursed and underpaid levy receivable
2008
$

Refund of assistance previously
disbursed and underpaid levy receivable
Less: Provision for impairment of receivables

6

480,907
(7,808)
473,099

538,600,000
–
542,968,672

124,900,000
470,000,000
598,393,509

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, the year end cash and cash equivalents comprise
the following:

Cash and bank balances
Fixed deposits with maturity of three
months or less after year end

8

2008
$
4,368,672

2007
$
3,493,509

538,600,000
542,968,672

124,900,000
128,393,509

2008
$
–
243,836
–
243,836

2007
$
56,256
3,099,602
559,481
3,715,339

Trade and other payables

Trade payables
Other payables
Accrued expenses

Included in other payables is an amount of $207,172 (2007 - $3,066,917) due to Singapore
Workforce Development Agency.
9

Skills development levy

The levy is based on 1% of the monthly remuneration or $2, whichever is greater, for employees
earning $2,000 or less per month.

Other receivables

Interest receivable
Others

15

332,017
–
332,017

2007
$

2007
$
3,493,509
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The fair values of bonds are determined by reference to the quoted prices on the buying rates
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- 2.57%) per annum and have maturity dates ranging from January 2009 to July 2011.

2008
$
4,368,672

2008
$
3,428,006
–
3,428,006

2007
$
2,178,092
8,773
2,186,865

10 Agency fee paid to CPF Board
The fees were paid to the Central Provident Fund (“CPF Board”) for services rendered in the
collection of skills development levy from employers in the private sector and statutory boards.

SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY ANNUAL REPORT 2007/2008 | 16

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 Operating surplus

14 Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

Operating surplus has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

14.2 Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the
risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest
rates.

Board members’ allowance
Provision for impairment of receivables:
– Provision for the year
– Provision no longer required
– Provision written off

2008
$
–

2007
$
4,095

–
–
7,808

7,808
(41,770)
(16,100)

12 Operating grants from Government

Operating grants received during the year
Unutilised operating grants transferred to WDA

2008
$
–
–
–

2007
$
7,330,000
(3,039,348)
4,290,652

The unutilized operating grant of $3,039,348 had been transferred to WDA at beginning of the
financial year to fund the Institute of Service Excellence at SMU (“ISES”) project in FY2007.
13 Commitments

14.3 Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes
in market prices whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual
security or its issuer or factors affecting all securities traded in the market.
The SDF holds its investment in bond to maturity, therefore market risk is minimal.
14.4 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an
obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss.
The SDF’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its cash and cash equivalents, financial
assets and financial liabilities. Liquid funds are placed with financial institutions with high
credit ratings.
The SDF’s credit risks are minimal as bond investments are held with established financial
institutions.

13.1 Disbursements

Training assistance committed for disbursement

The SDF has cash balances placed with reputable banks and financial institutions and
has limited exposure to interest rate risk as variable rate interest-bearing assets are mainly
of short-term nature. Interest rate on its investment in bonds is fixed. The SDF manages
its interest rate risk by placing such balances on varying maturities and interest rate terms.

2008
$
104,319,482

2007
$
135,480,672

14 Financial risk management objectives and policies
The SDF is subject to price risk (including foreign currency risk and interest rate risk) and credit
risk. The SDF recognises that management of financial risk is an important aspect to discharge
its regulatory functions, objects and duties under the Skills Development Levy Act, Cap. 306.
The SDF has adopted risk management practices to mitigate these risks in a cost effective manner.

The carrying amount of other receivables, levy collection due from the CPF Board and
cash and cash equivalents represents the SDF’s maximum exposure to credit risk.
15 Financial instruments
Fair values
The carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year is
assumed to approximate their fair values.

The SDF does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes or to hedge
against fluctuations, if any, in interest rates and foreign exchange.
14.1 Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes
in foreign exchange rates.
The SDF has minimal exposure to foreign exchange risk as it transacts mainly in
Singapore dollars.

17
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2007
$
135,480,672

14 Financial risk management objectives and policies
The SDF is subject to price risk (including foreign currency risk and interest rate risk) and credit
risk. The SDF recognises that management of financial risk is an important aspect to discharge
its regulatory functions, objects and duties under the Skills Development Levy Act, Cap. 306.
The SDF has adopted risk management practices to mitigate these risks in a cost effective manner.

The carrying amount of other receivables, levy collection due from the CPF Board and
cash and cash equivalents represents the SDF’s maximum exposure to credit risk.
15 Financial instruments
Fair values
The carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year is
assumed to approximate their fair values.

The SDF does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes or to hedge
against fluctuations, if any, in interest rates and foreign exchange.
14.1 Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes
in foreign exchange rates.
The SDF has minimal exposure to foreign exchange risk as it transacts mainly in
Singapore dollars.

17

SINGAPORE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT AGENCY ANNUAL REPORT 2007/2008 | 18

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This page has been intentionally left blank

Auditors’ Report

01

Balance Sheet

03

Receipt and Expenditure Statement

04

Notes to the Financial Statements

05

LIFELONG LEARNING ENDOWMENT FUND

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008
19

SINGAPORE WORK DEVELOPMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2007/2008 | 35

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This page has been intentionally left blank

Auditors’ Report

01

Balance Sheet

03

Receipt and Expenditure Statement

04

Notes to the Financial Statements

05

LIFELONG LEARNING ENDOWMENT FUND

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008
19

SINGAPORE WORK DEVELOPMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2007/2008 | 35

AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MINISTRY OF MANPOWER ON LIFELONG LEARNING ENDOWMENT FUND

AUDITOR’S
REPORT

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Lifelong Learning Endowment
Fund, which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 March 2008, and the receipts and expenditure
statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with the provisions of the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund Act 2001 (the
“Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes:
(a) devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or
disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary
to permit the preparation of true and fair income and expenditure accounts and balance
sheets and to maintain accountability of assets.
(b) selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and

AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MINISTRY OF MANPOWER ON LIFELONG LEARNING ENDOWMENT FUND

Opinion
In our opinion,
(a) the financial statements of Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund are properly drawn up in
accordance with the provisions of the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund Act 2001 (the
“Act”), and on the basis sets out in the preceding paragraph, present fairly, in all material
aspects, the state of affairs of the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund as at 31 March 2008
and the receipts and expenditure of the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund for the year
ended on that date;
(b) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Lifelong Learning
Endowment Fund have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act;
and
(c) the receipts, expenditure and investment of monies and the acquisition and disposal of
assets by the Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund have been done in accordance with the
provisions of the Act.

(c) making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
The Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund’s policy is to prepare the financial statements on the
cash receipts and disbursements basis. On this basis, revenue is recognised when received
rather than when earned and expenses are recognised when paid rather than when incurred.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management committee, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

GEETHA A & ASSOCIATES
Public Accountants And Certified Public Accountants
Singapore, 12 May 2008

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinion.
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BALANCE
SHEET

RECEIPT AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT

Notes

31 March 2008
$

31 March 2007
$

Accumulated Fund
Balance at end of the year

3

2,371,011,566

2,246,249,506

Represented by :
Funds with Accountant-General

4

2,371,011,566

2,246,249,506

Year ended
31 March 2008
$

Year ended
31 March 2007
$

100,000,000
90,034,940
1,867,939
191,902,879

100,000,000
88,455,592
1,238,818
189,694,410

6

61,872,483
5,261,426
6,910
67,140,819

59,216,874
3,802,973
34,023
63,053,870

Excess of Receipts over Expenditure
Accumulated fund balance
brought forward
Accumulated fund balance
carried forward
3

124,762,060

126,640,540

2,246,249,506

2,119,608,966

2,371,011,566

2,246,249,506

Notes
Receipts during the year
Capital contribution from Government
Income from investments
Other receipts

Expenditure during the year
Grants disbursed
Marketing and promotion expenses
Administrative expenses
Leo Yip Seng Cheong

Anthony Tan

Permanent Secretary
Ministry of Manpower

Director/Corporate Planning Department
Ministry of Manpower

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Ministry of Manpower on 12 May
2008.

3. Accumulated Fund (cont’d)

1. Domicile and Activities
The Lifelong Learning Endowment Fund (“the Fund”) is established in Singapore. The address
of the Ministry’s principal place of activity is at 18 Havelock Road, #07-01, Singapore 059764.
The Fund is set up by the Singapore Government (“the Government”) under the Lifelong Learning
Endowment Fund Act 2001 (“the Act”) for the acquisition of skills and expertise by persons,
and the development and upgrading of skills and expertise of persons to enhance their
employability; and the promotion of the acquisition, development and upgrading of skills and
expertise to enhance the employability of persons.
The Fund, which came into operation with effect from 12 March 2001, had an initial capital of
$500 million. The Government may make further payments of capital money into the Fund
from time to time. Only income earned from the Fund will be used. The Fund is deemed to be
a Government fund for the purposes of any written law in Singapore.
The Singapore Workforce Development Agency (“WDA”) has been appointed as the programme
manager of the Fund to receive and deploy the grant for programmes that are congruent with
the objectives of the Fund.

Income from investments
Past reserves protected
Income from investments available
for expenditure

d

47,096,321

22,334,261

(d) This amount is available for payment of future approved expenses and distribution as grants
to institutions to be applied for the purpose of all or any of the following purposes as defined
under the Act:
(i)

In line with the Government’s accounting policy, the cash basis of accounting is adopted.
On the basis, receipts are recognised when received rather than earned and expenses are
recognised when paid rather than when incurred.

(iii) the promotion of the acquisition, development or upgrading of such skills and expertise;
(iv) the provision of financial assistance or incentives to persons to carry out, whether in
Singapore or elsewhere, activities or programmes which are consistent with objects of
the Fund;

3. Accumulated Fund
Notes
a
b

2008
$
2,200,000,000
171,011,566
2,371,011,566

2007
$
2,100,000,000
146,249,506
2,246,249,506

(a) This relates to capital money paid into the Fund by the Government from the Consolidated
Revenue Account. Under Section 4(4) of the Act, this amount shall not be used for any
purpose other than for investment.
(b) This relates to investment income earned on the Fund balance. The investment income
is arrived at after deducting investment expenses, grants made to institutions and other
expenses as approved under the Act.

the provision of financial assistance or incentives to persons to acquire, develop or
upgrade, whether in Singapore or elsewhere, skills and expertise to enhance their
employability;

(ii) the research or development, whether in Singapore or elsewhere, in or of learning
methods and technology to enhance the acquisition, development or upgrading of
such skills and expertise;

2.1 Basis of preparation
The financial statements are expressed in Singapore dollars.

(v) the establishment, expansion or maintenance of facilities, whether in Singapore or
elsewhere, to be used for purposes consistent with the objects of the Fund; and
(vi) such other purposes consistent with the objects of the Fund, whether carried out in
Singapore or elsewhere, as may be prescribed.
4.

Funds with Accountant-General

This represents funds held by the Accountant-General on behalf of the Fund. The Fund is
allocated investment income at prevailing Central Provident Fund’s rate of return for Special
and Retirement Accounts, currently at 4% (2006: 4%) per annum.
5. Other Receipts

Refund of unused grant
Interest income

05

2007
$
146,249,506
(123,915,245)

(c) This relates to reserves which are protected as a result of Government requirements.
Investment income earned from the Fund previously will be protected when there is a
change-over in government. This would ensure that the present government would only
spend what it has earned in its term of office.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Capital contribution from Government
Income from investments

c

2008
$
171,011,566
(123,915,245)

Notes

2008
$
1,860,714
7,225
1,867,939

2007
$
1,228,489
10,329
1,238,818
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The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Ministry of Manpower on 12 May
2008.
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(123,915,245)

(c) This relates to reserves which are protected as a result of Government requirements.
Investment income earned from the Fund previously will be protected when there is a
change-over in government. This would ensure that the present government would only
spend what it has earned in its term of office.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Capital contribution from Government
Income from investments

c

2008
$
171,011,566
(123,915,245)

Notes

2008
$
1,860,714
7,225
1,867,939

2007
$
1,228,489
10,329
1,238,818
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6. Grants Disbursed
During the financial year, the Fund made grants for the following programmes to approved
institutions:
2008
2007
$
$
Programmes
Public Employment Service Programme
3,385,031
7,263,783
Management of PES Information Systems
437,577
600,972
Place-Train-Adjust
–
6,000
Place and Train Programme
1,199,739
1,443,415
SMCP HealthCare
882,634
2,333,501
Employment and Retention Promotion
73,041
659,928
Home Ownership Plus Education
(HOPE) Programme
428,575
141,900
NEXSTEP Programme
175,250
556,045
Enhancement of DCN’s Effectiveness
569,033
745,659
Career Guidance and Employment Projects for
New Entrants into the Labour Market
(Employment & CET for out of school youths)
–
103,058
Self-Employment Assistance (SEA) Programme
32,400
14,984
“Conversational Mandarin at Workplace”
– A MENDAKI and SCCCI Initiative
27,672
31,104
Survey for Distributed CareerLink Network
52,499
19,005
Re-Employment Support Scheme (RESS)
2,495,225
2,396,366
Job Redesign
13,676,204
12,522,879
ADVANTAGE!
1,371,803
5,897,368
Enhanced ADVANTAGE! Scheme
6,034,983
–
1-Institute-2-Systems
13,797,714
11,100,339
SRP Surrogate Employers Programme
–
6,910
Advance Certificate In Training And
Assessment (ACTA) Training
128,622
175,616
Executive Development Programme
273,584
49,924
Development and Implementation of
Singapore Employability Skills System (ESS)
3,116,423
1,263,357
Development and Implementation of the
Chinese Version of the Singapore Employability
Skills System (ESS)
504,791
344,550
Supply Chain Management Executive Upgrading
Programme (Logistics Industry) Advertorial
–
18,000
Work Support Programme
–
1,500,000
Skills Standard and Framework Development
3,785,564
2,861,035
Aerospace Industry Workforce Development
Partnership (AIWDP)
120,000
120,000

6. Grants Disbursed (cont’d)

Programmes
Manpower Surveys
Assessment only Pathway (AOP)
Waiver of Accreditation and Audit Fees
Enhancement of SDF EasyNet to disburse
LLEF and Reinvestment Funds
Establishment of Quality Providers in the
Retail Industry – Singapore Institute of
Retail Studies (SIRS)
Formation of National Infocomm
Competency Academy
Promotion of Tourism, Hotel &
Accommodation Services
Precision Engineering (PE) WSQ Launch
Customer Centric Initiative (CCI) Programme
LLEF Administration by WDA and NSRS &
NCETF Administration
3 Year Block Grant to Facilitate The Transition
of HR Communities of Practice and Singapore
HR Community Portal To SHRI
Age Management Guide (Special Employment
Facilitation For Long Term Unemployed)
Tripartite Action Group (TAG)
Promotion of Good Human Capital Management
(HCM) Practices
Wage Restructuring Coaching Assistance Grant
World HR Conference
Design, Hosting and Administration and Analysis
of an Electronic Online Survey
Minor Projects Vote
Development of SkillsConnect Scheme
Promotional Outreach for the Retail, Security
and Healthcare Industries
Establishment of Quality Providers in the
Senior Service Subsector
Establishment of Quality Providers in the
Creative Industry – Tiny Island Academy
Establishment of Quality Providers for WSH
Professional WSQ Framework –
Ngee Ann Polytechnic
Establishment of Quality Providers in the
Finance Industry - FICS

2008
$

2007
$

680,959
68,668
–

610,105
40,880
140,150

–

9,293

407,500

275,000

1,140,500

660,000

470,143
–
–

340,199
104,644
23,752

–

1,732,439

36,200

293,200

–
550,000

39,042
–

–
–
–

140,396
22,500
155,170

–
–
439,990

9,450
651,277
352,774

188,146

353,296

236,896

–

445,000

–

7,000

–

528,295

–
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6. Grants Disbursed
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6. Grants Disbursed (cont’d)

Programmes
Manpower Surveys
Assessment only Pathway (AOP)
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LLEF and Reinvestment Funds
Establishment of Quality Providers in the
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Retail Studies (SIRS)
Formation of National Infocomm
Competency Academy
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2008
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$
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68,668
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140,150
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407,500

275,000
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–
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6. Grants Disbursed (cont’d)
2008
$
Programmes
Effectiveness Review Studies
Service Excellence
Creative Entrepreneurship Programme
National Retail Scholarship Programme
Professional Conversion Programme
Skills Upgrading Programme
Project Phoenix

591,323
2,815,533
158,646
44,492
130,241
386,619
197,100
62,091,615
(219,132)
61,872,483

WDA (a)

2007
$
–
255,297
–
–
–
135,885
–
58,520,447
696,427
59,216,874

Note (a) – this is represented by:
Notes
Grants disbursed by WDA out of
unused funds received from the
Fund in the previous financial year
Unused portion of grants disbursed to
WDA in the current financial year,
available for carry forward to the
next financial year

(1,556,933)

(a)

09

2008
$

1,337,801
(219,132)

2007
$
(860,506)

1,556,933
696,427
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